Evidence-based Guidelines for Best Practice in Urological Health Care

Intravesical instillation

with mitomycin C or bacillus Calmette-Guérin in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer

2015

European Association of Urology Nurses Evidence-based Guidelines for Best Practice in Urological Health Care

Intravesical instillation with mitomycin C or bacillus Calmette-Guérin in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer

S. Vahr W. De Blok N. Love-Retinger B. Thoft Jensen B. Turner G. Villa J. Hrbáček

Introduction

The European Association of Urology Nurses (EAUN) was created in April 2000 to represent European urology nurses. The EAUN's underlying goal is to foster the highest standards of urological nursing care throughout Europe. With administrative, financial and advisory support from the European Association of Urology (EAU), the EAUN also encourages research and aspires to develop European standards for education and accreditation of urology nurses.

We believe that excellent health care goes beyond geographical boundaries. Improving current standards of urological nursing care has been top of our agenda, with the aim of directly helping our members develop or update their expertise. To fulfil this essential goal, we are publishing the latest addition to our Evidence-based Guidelines for Best Practice in Urological Health Care series; a comprehensive compilation of theoretical knowledge and practical guidelines on intravesical instillation. Although there is considerable literature on intravesical instillation, to the best of our knowledge, prior to this publication there was only limited evidence-based guidance for nurses available on this topic. The EAUN Guidelines Group believes there is a need to provide guidelines with recommendations that clearly state the level of evidence of each procedure, with the aim of improving current practices and delivering a standard and reliable protocol.

In this booklet, we include clear illustrations, extensive references, and annotated procedures to help nurses identify potential problem areas and safely carry out effective patient care. The working group decided to include topics such as indications and contraindications, safety precautions, nursing principles, and interventions in intravesical instillations, as well as education to patients. We would also like to highlight the psychological and social aspects unique to the experience of patients undergoing intravesical instillations as aspects that have influence on quality of life (QoL).

With our emphasis on delivering these guidelines based on a consensus process, we intend to support nurses and practitioners who are already assessed as competent in the procedure of intravesical instillations. Although these guidelines aim to be comprehensive, effective practice can only be achieved if the nurse or practitioner has a clear and thorough knowledge of the anatomy under discussion and the necessary understanding of basic nursing principles.

This publication focuses on intravesical instillations with mitomycin C and bacillus Calmette-Guérin. These guidelines are intended to complement, or provide support to, established clinical practice and should be used within the context of local policies and existing protocols and with recognition of the individual situation of the patient.

This text is made available to all individual EAUN members, both electronically and in print. The full text can be accessed on the EAUN website (http://nurses.uroweb.org/). Hard copies can be ordered through the EAU website via the webshop or by e-mail (eaun@uroweb.org).

Table of contents

Int	roduo	Role of the nurse in different countries7Methodology82.1Literature search2.2Limitations of the search2.3Search results2.4Disclosures2.5Limitations of the document2.6Review process2.7Rating system2.7Rating system2.8Intravesical instillation3.1Intravesical instillation3.2Intravesical chemotherapy3.3Intravesical chemotherapy3.3Intravesical instillations, alternatives4.1Indications for intravesical instillations4.2Contraindications, alternatives4.3Alternatives to MMC and BCGCare pathway175.1Common treatment schedules5.2Resistance to intravesical treatment5.3European safety regulations6.2Risk factors and exposure6.2.1Risks during drug preparation/reconstitution96.2.26.2.4Risks during drug administration6.2.5Cleaning and management of spillages22Gi6.3Health care workers safety23	
Int	roduo	tion	7
1.	Role	e of the nurse in different countries	7
2.	Met	hodology	8
		••	8
	2.2	Limitations of the search	8
	2.3	Search results	9
	2.4	Disclosures	10
	2.5	Limitations of the document	10
	2.6	Review process	10
	2.7	Rating system	10
3.	Terr	ninology (definitions)	13
	3.1	Intravesical instillation	13
	3.2	17	13
	3.3	Intravesical immunotherapy	13
4.	Indi	cations and contraindications, alternatives	15
	4.1		15
			15
	4.3	Alternatives to MMC and BCG	16
5.			17
	5.1	Common treatment schedules	17
	5.2	Resistance to intravesical treatment	17
6.		•	18
			18
	6.2		18
			19
			20
		•.	21
		•	22
			22
	6.3	•	
		6.3.1 Personal protective equipment (PPE)	23
		6.3.2 Pregnant health care workers	24
	6.4	Patient safety	24
		6.4.1 Care instructions	24
		6.4.2 Pregnant patients	25
		6.4.3 Fertility	25

page

7.	Nurs	e education prior to instillation	27
8.	Princ	ciples of management of nursing intervention	30
	8.1	Patient assessment	30
		8.1.1 Pre-procedure	30
		8.1.2 Common problems identified during assessment	31
		8.1.3 Informed consent	32
	8.2	Preparation of bladder instillation medication	32
	8.3	Medication pre-procedure	33
	8.4	Administration of intravesical instillation	34
		8.4.1 Positioning of the patient	34
		8.4.2 Cleaning of the meatus	34
		8.4.3 Instillation equipment	34
		8.4.3.1 Catheter type and size	34
		8.4.3.2 Lubricant	35
		8.4.4 Ability of the bladder to hold medication	36
		8.4.5 Post-operative administration of MMC	36
		8.4.6 Dwell time	36
	8.5	Patient education	37
9.		plications and side effects	39
		Catheter associated bacteriuria	39
	9.2		39
		9.2.1 Side effects	39
		9.2.2 How to reduce risk of side effects of MMC	40
		9.2.3 How to manage side effects of MMC	40
	9.3		42
		9.3.1 Side effects	42
		9.3.2 How to reduce risk of side effects of BCG	42
		9.3.3 How to manage side effects of BCG	43
10.	Patie	ent Quality of Life (QoL)	44
	10.1	Impact of intravesical instillations on the patient reported outcome	44
11.	Docu	Imentation	46
	11.1	What needs to be documented	46
	11.2	Examples of documentation	46
12.	Gloss	sary and abbreviations	47
13.	Figu	re reference list	48
14.	Арре	endices	49
		Procedures for intravesical instillation	49
		Checklist for patient information	55
	14.3	Rare side effects of BCG	56

16.	References	76
15.	About the authors	74
	14.11 PICO questions	72
	14.10 Example of Safety guidelines for cleaning and handling hazardous drugs	69
	14.9 Example of Side effect questionnaire	68
	14.8 Examples of Documentation for MMC and BCG instillation	66
	14.7 Example of Training document	63
	14.6 Example of Competency document	62
	14.5 EORTC Quality of Life questionnaires	59
	14.4 Management options for side effects associated with intravesical BCG	57

Introduction

Cancer of the urinary bladder

Bladder cancer is the most common malignant tumour of the urinary tract, with an EU incidence of 27 and 6 per 100,000 in men and women, respectively. Smoking is the single most important risk factor and is implicated in 50% of cases. Occupational exposure during paint processing, dye and petroleum industries represents another risk factor. [1] At presentation, 75% of patients have non-muscle invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC), that is, tumours confined to the mucosa (tumours are called Ta in the TNM classification) or submucosa (tumours designated as T1), as opposed to muscle-invasive bladder cancer (MIBC). Primary treatment for NMIBC is transurethral resection of bladder tumour (TUR-BT). NMIBC has a high prevalence due to low progression rates and long-term survival in many cases. According to current European Association of Urology (EAU) guidelines, TUR-BT should be enhanced by intravesical medication. The use of intravesical agents to prevent/delay recurrence or delay progression of NMIBC has been available since the mid-1970s. [2] These guidelines deal with this particular aspect of treatment and care for NMIBC. Once the tumour has invaded the smooth muscle layer of the bladder, it cannot be controlled by TUR-BT. The biological characteristics, treatment and prognosis of MIBC are different. [1]

Scope

The scope of these guidelines was established at the start of the guidelines process. Fifteen PICO questions (see addendum 14.11 for description) were posed to guide the literature review process. The guidelines cover adults with NMIBC treated with intravesical instillation. The guidelines were developed to prevent unintended harm to patients or caregivers, and to enhance treatment compliance by addressing patient-related outcomes.

The guidelines provide guidance for the standard intravesical instillation of mitomycin C (MMC) and bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG), for health care professionals, patients and their families.

We describe evidence-based or best practice for safe administration and handling of the agents, based on articles found in a literature search, USA and EU regulations, and consensus in the Working Group.

1. Role of the nurse in different countries

The European Association of Urology Nurses (EAUN) is a professional organisation of European nurses who specialise in urological care. In Europe, there is great variation in the level of education and practical training of nurses in urology, with the roles and responsibilities of nurses differing among countries. It is therefore difficult for any guidelines to fulfil all requirements or expectations of individual practitioners. However, the EAUN Guidelines Group aims to ensure that every nurse and health care professional will gain some benefit from using these guidelines. In different countries, and even in different areas within the same country, job titles differ within the specialty. For the purpose of this document, we refer to all nurses who are working with intravesical instillation as specialised nurses.

2. Methodology

The EAUN Guidelines Working Group for intravesical instillation have prepared these guidelines to help nurses assess evidence-based management and incorporate the recommendations into their clinical practice. These guidelines are not meant to be prescriptive, nor will adherence to them guarantee a successful outcome in all cases. Ultimately, decisions regarding treatment and care must be made on a case-by-case basis by health care professionals after consultation with their patients and colleagues, and using their clinical judgement, evidence-based knowledge, and expertise. The Working Group consists of a multidisciplinary team of nurse specialists, including Susanne Vahr (Chair), Willem De Blok, Bente Thoft Jensen, Nora Love-Retinger, Bruce Turner and Giulia Villa, as well as urologist Jan Hrbáček (see Chapter 15).

2.1 Literature search

The information offered in these guidelines was obtained through a systematic literature search and a review of current procedures undertaken in various member countries of the EAUN.

A search of the medical literature was conducted using Medline (Ovid SP), (1946 to November 2014), Embase (Ovid SP) (1974 to November 2014), CINAHL (1982 to November 2014), Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials and the Cochrane Health Technology Assessment databases (from inception to November 2014).

Both medical subject headings (MeSH) and free-text terms, as well as variations of root words, were searched. Key terms related to "non-muscle invasive bladder cancer" were combined using the set operator AND key terms related to "bladder instillation" AND key terms related to "mitomycin or BCG". MeSH terms included non muscle invasive bladder cancer, bladder tumor, bladder neoplasms, bladder cancer, bladder carcinoma, transitional cell carcinoma, carcinoma in situ; mitomycins, mitomycin, mitomycin C, BCG vaccine; bladder irrigation, therapeutic irrigation, intravesical drug administration, and administration, intravesical.

Non-English-language studies, animal or *in vitro* studies, conference proceedings, and paediatric studies were excluded.

The search was based on PICO questions formulated by the Working Group. (Appendix 14.11)

2.2 Limitation of the search

Limitations:

- English language
- Adults

The search results were not limited to randomised controlled trials (RCTs), controlled clinical

trials, meta-analyses or systematic reviews. In all databases, output was limited to human studies, adults aged \geq 19 years, 1946 to July 2013, and English-language publications. Additional searches were not limited to any level of evidence (LE), and EU, USA and national regulations were also used.

Exclusion criteria during search:

Painful bladder syndrome

Exclusion criteria when selecting the abstracts:

- Treatment planning
- Tumour recurrence
- In vitro studies
- Studies comparing effects of treatment with MMC/BCG with those of other chemotherapy neoadjuvant medication, thermo chemotherapy, and electromotive drug approach.

2.3 Search results

The initial search was done in August 2013 by Yuhong (Cathy) Yuan, Research Associate at McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, and repeated in December 2014, which resulted in:



Flowchart 1. Literature search "Intravesical instillation"

It was a policy decision to restrict the search in the way described, although the Group was aware that more complex strategies were possible, and would be encouraged in the context of a formal systematic review. In the process of working with the articles, new references were found and added to the reference list, if they were relevant to the topic and cited in the text.

2.4 Disclosures

Members of the Working Group have provided disclosure statements of all relationships that might be a potential conflict of interest. This information is stored in the EAU database. This guidelines document was developed with the financial support of Medac and BD (Becton, Dickinson & Co).

The EAUN is a non-profit organisation and funding is limited to administrative assistance and travel and meeting expenses. No honoraria or other reimbursements have been provided.

2.5 Limitations of the document

The EAUN acknowledges and accepts the limitations of this document. It should be emphasised that the current guidelines provide information about treatment and care of individual patients according to a standardised approach. The information should be considered as providing recommendations without legal implications. The intended readership is practising urology nurses and nurses working in a related field throughout Europe. Cost-effectiveness considerations are best addressed locally and therefore fall outside the remit of these guidelines.

2.6 Review process

The Working Group included some topics that are not only applicable to intravesical instillation, but decided to include them because they make the guidelines more complete. A blinded review was carried out by specialist nurses, urologists in various European countries and the USA, a patient representative and a representative of a local occupational health and safety organisation. The Working Group revised the document based on the comments received and included relevant references received (also from after the search period). A final version was approved by the EAUN Board and the EAU Executive responsible for EAUN activities.

2.7 Rating system

The recommendations provided in this document are based on a rating system modified from that produced by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine (OCBM) in 2011. [3] External data extractors recruited from the EAU used the EAU data-extraction system for critical assessment of the papers identified.

Whenever possible, the Working Group graded treatment recommendations using a threegrade system (grade of recommendation; GR A-C) and inserted levels of evidence to help readers assess the validity of the statements made. The aim of this practice is to ensure a clear transparency between the underlying evidence and the recommendations given. This system is further described in Tables 1 and 2. Some of the literature was not easy to grade. However, if the Working Group thought that the information would be useful in practice, it was ranked as LE 4 and GR C. Low-level evidence indicated that no higher level evidence was found in the literature when writing the guidelines, but cannot be regarded as an indication of the importance of the topic or recommendation for daily practice.

The literature used in these guidelines included qualitative research, but because there is no systematic ranking for these types of studies, the qualitative studies were all graded LE 4.

The recommendations in these guidelines are based on synthesis of evidence from the articles.

The Working Group aims to develop guidelines for evidence-based nursing, as defined by Behrens (2004): "Integration of the latest, highest level scientific research into the daily nursing practice, with regard to theoretical knowledge, nursing experience, the ideas of the patient and available resources". [4] The Working Group based the text on evidence whenever possible, but if evidence were missing, it was based on best practice.

Four components that influence nursing decisions can be distinguished: personal clinical experience of the nurse; existing resources; patient wishes and ideas; and results of nursing science. [4] This statement implies that, although literature is important, the experience of nurses and patients is also necessary for decision making. Consequently, it is not only the written guidelines that are relevant for nursing practice.

Level	Type of evidence		
1a	• Evidence obtained from meta-analysis of randomised trials		
1b	Evidence obtained from at least one randomised trial		
2a	• Evidence obtained from one well-designed controlled study without randomisation		
2b	• Evidence obtained from at least one other type of well-designed quasi-experimental study		
3	• Evidence obtained from well-designed non-experimental studies, such as comparative studies, correlation studies, and case reports		
4	• Evidence obtained from expert committee reports or opinions or clinical experience of respected authorities		

Table 1. Level of evidence (LE)

Table 2. Grade of recommendation (GR)

Grade	Type of evidence – Nature of recommendations	
A • Based on clinical studies of good quality and consistency addressing the specific recommendations and including at least one randomised trial		
В	Based on well-conducted clinical studies, but without randomised clinical trials	
с	Made despite the absence of directly applicable clinical studies of good quality	

3. Terminology (definitions)

3.1 Intravesical instillation

Intravesical instillation is a procedure by which fluids are slowly introduced into the bladder and allowed to remain there for a specific length of time before being drained, voided or withdrawn. It is performed to expose the tissues of a given area to the solution.

Intravesical instillation is drug administration into the urinary bladder via a catheter. This procedure allows drug delivery to the urothelium with reduced systemic side effects compared with oral or parental drug delivery. [5] The procedure is also referred to as bladder instillation, intravesical treatment, intravesical therapy. These guidelines use the term intravesical instillation.

3.2 Intravesical chemotherapy

Intravesical chemotherapy aims to eradicate any surviving cancer cells in the bladder mucosa (so-called "chemoresection" of the tumour), and in case of immediate postoperative instillation, to destroy any floating tumour cells left behind by TUR-BT and prevent them from implantation.

Mitomycin C (MMC) is a chemotherapeutic agent that inhibits DNA synthesis in tumour cells. MMC decreases the recurrence rate from 54% to 38%, but has no impact on the risk of progression. [6] There are other intravesical chemotherapeutic agents apart from MMC. Doxorubicin, epirubicin and thiotepa are used in some countries and no superiority of one drug over the others has been demonstrated. [1,7]

3.3 Intravesical immunotherapy

Immunotherapy aims to eradicate disease by provoking or enhancing the host immune response.

BCG is a live attenuated strain of Mycobacterium bovis. When instilled into the bladder, it triggers an immune response in the mucosa that eventually kills cancer cells. Bacteria in the suspension attach to the tumour cells and are absorbed. Consequently, immune cells such as granulocytes, macrophages and lymphocytes move into the tissue as a part of the inflammatory reaction, leading to tumour elimination. The less differentiated (i.e., more aggressive) the tumour, the more sensitive it is to BCG. [8]

A Cochrane meta-analysis of 1,901 patients with Ta-T1 tumours comparing MMC vs. BCG found BCG more efficient in preventing recurrence, but having no effect on survival and progression. [9] According to a meta-analysis from 2002, BCG reduced recurrence rates by 32% and prolonged time to recurrence from 1-2 to 2-4 years. BCG decreased the odds of progression of Ta, T1 and Tis disease from 13.8 to 9.8% during follow-up of 2.5 years, when compared with TUR-BT alone or TUR-BT plus other intravesical treatment – provided that maintenance therapy was given. [10]

4. Indications and contraindications, alternatives

4.1 Indications for intravesical instillations

From the prognostic viewpoint, NMIBC falls into one of three categories: low risk (LR), intermediate risk (IR) and high risk (HR) for progression and for recurrence according to the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) criteria.

Table 3. Risk categories of NMIBC

Adapted from: EAU guidelines on non-muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder: update 2014 (Table 8).[1]

Category	Definition
LR	A primary solitary Ta G1 lesion < 3 cm with no associated carcinoma <i>in situ</i> (CIS) in the bladder.
IR	Tumours fall between LR and HR categories.
HR	Tumour classified as stage T1, or high-grade (or G3), or associated with CIS in the bladder or multiple large recurrent Ta G1–2 tumours (in this case, all of the characteristics must be present).

Table 4. Intravesical treatment according to tumour risk category

Category	Treatment
LR	One single immediate postoperative instillation of chemotherapy is considered sufficient adjuvant treatment. Immediate means preferably within 6 h of TUR, but definitely no longer than 24 h after surgery.
IR	One immediate postoperative instillation should be followed by 1 year of maintenance chemotherapy or maintenance BCG (see Chapter 5).
HR	Full-dose intravesical treatment with BCG for 1–3 years is indicated. [1]

4.2 Contraindications for intravesical instillations

Intravesical chemotherapy is contraindicated in cases of gross haematuria requiring irrigation, and/or any suspicion of extra- or intraperitoneal bladder perforation. Extravasation of chemotherapy may lead to serious adverse events. [1]

Pregnancy is not an absolute contraindication to MMC administration according to the summary of product characteristics (SPC) [11], but given the relatively small benefit of the

instillations, the decision to give intravesical chemotherapy during pregnancy is on a case-bycase basis. Breastfeeding should be discontinued during MMC treatment. [11]

Intravesical administration of BCG is contraindicated in patients with gross haematuria, after traumatic catheterisation, for 2 weeks after TUR-BT, and in patients with a symptomatic urinary tract infection (UTI). [1] Asymptomatic bacteriuria is not a contraindication. [12] Other contraindications include active tuberculosis, hypersensitivity to BCG, previous radiotherapy of the bladder, pregnancy and lactation. [13] There is evidence that BCG therapy may be safe in immunocompromised patients. [14] BCG administration is not recommended during pregnancy, although relevant data are lacking. [13]

4.3 Alternatives to MMC and BCG

None of the following treatments is recommended as standard by the current EAU Guidelines and they should be regarded as investigational: intravesical administration of MMC and gemcitabine, paclitaxel, docetaxel, BCG and interferon (IFN)- α , and thermochemotherapy. [15]

5. Care pathway

5.1 Common treatment schedules

Many different chemotherapy and BCG schedules have been described; the following schedules are in common use.

Chemotherapy (MMC): one single immediate postoperative instillation; or immediate postoperative instillation followed by 6 weekly instillations and then, if cystoscopy is negative, monthly instillations for a period of 1 year. [16] (See Chapter 4 for indications)

BCG: there is no immediate postoperative instillation of BCG. Administration should not start sooner than 2 weeks after TUR-BT and consists of 6 weekly instillations: induction course followed by 3 weekly instillations (maintenance) at 3, 6, 12, 18, 24, 30 and 36 months, provided that cystoscopy and cytology are negative. This schedule was established by a Southwest Oncology Group trial. [17] The dwell time is 1-2 h. [18] Maintenance in IR tumours stops after 12 months. [1] BCG is not superior to MMC unless at least 1 year of maintenance is completed. [1] Maintenance MMC is better than non-maintenance BCG. [18]

The first cystoscopy is performed at 3 months after the standard 6-week induction. In patients who are disease free, 3 weekly instillations are given 1 week after cystoscopy, and then maintenance continues as described above. [19]

5.2 Resistance to intravesical treatment

Patients who fail intravesical chemotherapy and experience disease relapse can benefit from BCG instillations. In the case of BCG failure, however, radical cystectomy is the safest treatment option. Recent evidence suggests that immunotherapy, chemotherapy, and combination therapy can yield responses in selected cases after BCG treatment failure. [1]

6. Safety

All antineoplastic agents are potentially hazardous and must be handled with caution. Although the risks of BCG and MMC are different (an attenuated vaccine and a cytotoxic agent), both are on The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Alert List as hazardous drugs. They have the potential to cause carcinogenic, developmental or reproductive toxicity or organ injury. [20,21]

6.1 European safety regulations

The European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA) aims to reduce any risk of mutagenic exposure to the population. [22] European regulations are in force in the individual EU Member States. Each Member State is responsible for developing local regulations based on the below mentioned EU directive. This implies that local rules for safety must be followed. In the US, Healthcare Workers Safety Guidelines exist under a regulatory body called the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA).

The European Council issued a directive in which the minimum of safety measurements were stated to protect workers from exposure to carcinogenic toxins. [23]

The Directive makes the following recommendations (Article 5):

- Reduce sources of exposure
 ✓ Use closed systems
- 2. Evacuation of carcinogens at source by local extraction or general ventilation ✓ Clean rooms with biological safety cabinet (BSC) or isolators
- 3. Individual protection measure (personal protective equipment) ✓ Use of gloves, gowns, masks, protective clothing

Prevention of exposure is the highest goal to reach in working with hazardous medication.

6.2 Risk factors and exposure

Both BCG and MMC are potential health risks to all persons exposed to them during handling. There is no permissible exposure level set for these hazardous drugs. [24] Analysis of occupational exposure of health care workers to these drugs has shown that oncology nurses have the highest exposure rate. Oncology nurses exposed to carcinogenic agents have an increased incidence of leukaemia and other cancers, as well as genetic mutations noted in their urine because of accidental exposure to carcinogenic agents. [25–31]

Employers must assess the risk of handling antineoplastic and biological drugs and take suitable precautions to protect employees by identifying the hazards, and deciding who might be harmed and how. Exposure during handling of BCG and MMC may be through skin or eye contact, skin absorption, inhalation of aerosols and drug particles, ingestion, and needle stick injuries during the following activities:

- Drug preparation
- Drug administration
- Handling patient waste
- Transport and waste disposal
- Cleaning spillages

People at risk of contamination:

- Transporters of the medication before and after preparation
- Pharmacists/pharmacy assistants
- Nurses/nurses' assistants
- Operating room theatre technicians
- Doctors
- Cleaning personnel
- Handlers of waste
- Handlers of linen/bedding
- Patients
- Family members/people close to the patient

6.2.1 Risks during drug preparation/reconstitution

Spillage of medication often occurs at the connection points of syringes, tubes (such as infusion sets) and urinary catheters.

When preparing medication that needs to be reconstituted, there is the possibility of spillage due to difficulty when introducing a needle into the vial and instilling fluid/diluent. The risk of over-pressure from the additional fluid can lead to aerosolisation of the medication and pose an increased risk to the person preparing MMC and BCG. [32]



Fig. 1 Aerosolisation of the medication when introducing a needle into the vial (Courtesy: CareFusion)

To reduce risk during drug preparation Closed System Transfer Devices (CSTD) are available to help prevent contamination.



Fig. 2a Equipment for reconstitution with a CSTD



Fig. 2b Dissolved BCG



Fig. 2c Syringe BCG using a CSTD (Courtesy: W. De Blok - BD PhaSeal shown)

6.2.2 Risks during drug administration

The risk of spillage during instillation can occur as follows:

- Connection of the system of administration of the prepared medication due to the possibility of the medication in contact with the outside of the container due to spillage during preparation.
- After removal of the catheter due to possible spillage of medication remaining within the catheter, or the patient's inability to retain the medication for the prescribed dwell time, or incontinence.

To reduce risk during drug administration, a closed system is preferable. [33] Closed administration systems are available to connect the syringes or bags containing the medication to the catheter, both with and without luer lock tips.

Both intermittent and indwelling catheters may be used. In the case of a catheter without a luer lock, an adaptor can be used to connect the catheter with the administration system. By folding an absorbent pad around the catheter and the whole administration system before removal of the catheter, the risk of skin exposure and contamination of the environment will be reduced considerably.



Fig. 3a Before BCG instillation



Fig. 3b Performing BCG instillation



Fig. 3c-d-e-f Retrieving catheter after BCG instillation in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin. (Courtesy: W. De Blok)

When performing MMC installation additional PPE is required.

6.2.3 Risks when handling patient waste

All material that has been exposed to medication used in intravesical instillation should be considered as contaminated and disposed of in accordance with local and hospital regulations, in a container specifically used for chemotherapeutic waste. [21]

Single use

- Disposables
- Syringes
- Tubing
- Packaging material
- Catheters
- Cleaning tissues
- Absorbent pads
- Incontinence pads
- Protective material (e.g., gloves)

Reusables

- Linen contaminated with MMC or BCG or excreta from patients who have received intravesical instillations in the past 2 days is a potential source of occupational exposure. Linen soiled with blood or other potentially infectious materials, as well as excreta, must also be managed as contaminated material. Linen contaminated with MMC or BCG should be placed in specially marked impervious laundry bags. The laundry bag and its contents should be prewashed, and then the linens added to other laundry for a second wash [21,22,34] Normal washing procedures are sufficient to remove both MMC and BCG. [35]
- The mattress of the gurney or bed used during the intravesical instillation should be protected from contamination by protective absorbent pads. [35]

6.2.4 Risks during transportation

During transportation, drug contamination might occur due to damage of the vial/container or contamination of the exterior of the package after preparation. During transportation, the handling personnel must be aware of the content and the risks involved. In accordance with local regulation, a sign/label can be used. Mellinger (2010) also stated that for those present in the same room where hazardous drugs are stored or used, special signage should be used. [35] This is not a European standard yet; therefore, signage should be based on local regulations.







Fig. 4a, 4b, 4c, 4d Examples of warning signs

6.2.5 Cleaning and management of spillages

Periodic cleaning of work surfaces and areas with appropriate deactivation agents before and after each patient encounter should be part of the established practice of each clinic/hospital.

Deactivation agents are listed on the Material Safety Data Sheet for each manufacturer [36], for example, TICE recommends the use of a tuberculocidal disinfectant. [37] Medac advises that spillage of BCG-Medac solution should be treated with a disinfectant with proven activity against mycobacteria. [38]

Clean-up of small spills

Safety procedures should be in place in any area involved with handling hazardous drugs. Small spills are considered to be < 5 ml.

- Spills < 5 ml or < 5 g outside a BSC should be cleaned up immediately by personnel wearing gowns, double latex gloves, and splash goggles. If latex gloves are against national regulations or in cases of allergies of health care worker and/or patient chemotherapy nitrile/neoprene gloves should be used.
- Liquids should be removed with absorbent gauze pads, and solids should be wiped with wet absorbent gauze. The spill areas should then be cleaned 3 times using a detergent

solution followed by clean water.

- Any broken glass fragments should be picked up using a small scoop (never the hands) and placed in a sharps container. The container should then go into a hazardous drugs disposal bin, along with used absorbent pads and any other contaminated waste.
- Contaminated reusable items, for example, glassware and scoops, should be treated as outlined above under Reusables. [22]

Clean-up of large spills

- Large spill areas should be isolated, avoiding aerosolisation of the drug.
- Spills should be handled by personnel properly trained in the handling of hazardous material.
- Cover liquid spills with an absorbent pad/sheet.
- Protective apparel, including respirators, should be used as with small spills when there is any suspicion of airborne powder or that an aerosol has been or will be generated.
- All contaminated surfaces should be thoroughly cleaned three times with detergent and water. All contaminated absorbent sheets and other materials should be place in a disposal bag for hazardous drugs. [22]

6.3 Health care workers safety

Risk prevention strategies are mandatory and should start by using instillation methods that minimise risk of contamination. Kastango et al. [39] stipulates that the lowest risk in complexity, and in number of aseptic manipulations, is by making use of pre-mixed compounded sterile preparations. The use of totally enclosed systems where practicable, carries the lowest risk for health care workers and patients. [22]

When performing intravesical instillations, healthcare workers should use protective equipment that protects them against contamination with medication.

6.3.1 Personal protective equipment (PPE)

Gloves

Long, thick chemotherapy approved gloves that cover the gown cuff are recommended for use with hazardous drugs. Gloves with little or no powder are preferred because the powder can absorb contaminating substances. [22]

Nitrile or natural rubber latex gloves (where in use) are preferred. Vinyl gloves are inappropriate because of their increased permeability. For extended exposure to chemotherapeutic drugs, double gloving, use of thicker gloves, and frequent changes of gloves increases the protection they afford. [40]

Gowns

Protective disposable gowns made of lint-free, low-permeability fabric, with a closed front, long sleeves, and elastic or knitted closed cuffs should be worn. The cuffs should be tucked under the gloves. If double gloves are worn, the outer glove should be over the gown cuff and the inner glove should be under the gown cuff. When the gown is removed, the inner gloves should be removed last. Gowns and gloves in use in MMC or BCG preparation areas should

Respiratory protection

A BSC is essential for the preparation of hazardous drugs. If a BSC is not available, a NIOSHapproved respirator appropriate for the hazard must be worn to afford protection until the BSC is instilled. [22]

Eye and face protection

Whenever splashes, sprays, or aerosols of hazardous drugs are generated that can result in eye, nose, or mouth contamination, chemical-barrier face and eye protection must be used. Eyeglasses with temporary side shields are inadequate protection. Eyewash facilities should also be available.

6.3.2 Pregnant health care workers

Reproductive effects associated with occupational exposure to antineoplastic agents are well documented. Several studies of nurses found a significantly high proportion of adverse pregnancy outcomes when exposure to antineoplastic agents occurred during pregnancy. The nurses involved in these studies usually prepared and administered the drugs. [22]

When giving MMC instillation it is advised that pregnant or lactating workers should not do the following:

- Prepare antineoplastic agents
- Perform intravesical instillations
- Clean up after spills
- Handle cytotoxic waste
- Take care of patients with heavy perspiration
- Handle patient waste

Pregnant or lactating workers are allowed to take care of patients being treated with antineoplastic agents if they do not come in contact with urine, stools or vomit. They can also change linen if no visible contamination is seen. [30]

6.4 Patient safety

6.4.1 Care instructions

Skin contact

Intravesical agents should not be allowed to come in contact with the patient's skin. If this does happen with MMC, the skin should be cleaned with water and soap. Contact with the eyes should also be handled by prolonged (15 min.) flushing with water. A physician should always be notified. The same procedures apply to contact with BCG and washing with soap and water is sufficient.

Hand washing is advised after passing urine.

Toileting

Toilets are where the risk of contamination after preparation and administration of

chemotherapeutic agents is highest. [178] High urinary urgency and incontinence are additional reasons for toilet contamination after intravesical instillation. In some countries, it is advised to flush the toilet twice with the lid closed, However, there is no evidence to support this precaution. When the toilet is used by more persons, cleaning with normal detergent and water is advised.

Contamination of clothes

Normal washing of clothes is safe enough to deal with MMC and BCG contamination. [35,41]

For further information on side effects, resuming normal activities, voiding and medication, see Section 8.5.

6.4.2 Pregnant patients

Pregnancy within 6 months after the therapy is not advised. Breast feeding during therapy with MMC or BCG is contraindicated. [11,13,42]

6.4.3 Fertility

Patients treated with BCG can show marked changes in sperm quality. [43,44] Some patients have sperm counts below oligospermia levels.

It is advised to use protective contraception (e.g. condoms) during sexual intercourse or to refrain from intercourse for 1 week after treatment, because excreta can remain in the body of patients undergoing BCG-therapy. [13]

For detailed information on cleaning procedures and material see Appendix 14.1

Recommendations	LE	GR
Employers must assess the risk of handling antineoplastic and biological drugs and take suitable precautions to protect employees by identifying the hazards, and deciding who might be harmed and how.	4	с
Health care workers involved in the preparation and administration of intravesical instillation medication should always follow local and hospital safety procedures to prevent exposure of patients and personnel to hazardous medication.	4	с
Instillation medication should be prepared in a pharmacy or BSC to prevent exposure.	4	с
To reduce risk of exposure during drug administration, a closed system is recommended. [33]	3	В
To reduce risk of exposure during drug preparation and administration personal protective clothing should be worn in accordance with local and hospital safety procedures. [21,22,26–31,40,45]	3	В
All material that has been exposed to medication used in intravesical instillation should be considered as contaminated and disposed of in accordance with local and hospital regulations, in a container specifically used for chemotherapeutic waste.	4	С

Reusable materials and furniture at risk of being contaminated during the intravesical instillation should be protected by protective absorbent pads.	4	c
All personnel handling, transporting and cleaning materials used for intravesical instillations must be properly trained on the content and the risks involved.	4	С
Nurses should educate patients and care givers how to deal with the risk of exposure during and after the intravesical instillation.	4	с
Nurses should advise patients not to become pregnant within 6 months after the treatment with BCG or MMC.	4	с
Pregnant or lactating health care workers taking care of patients being treated with antineoplastic agents (MMC) should follow local guidelines when preparing or administering the drugs, clean spillage or waste and prevent contact with the patient's urine, stools, vomit or heavy perspiration.	4	С

7. Nurse education prior to instillation

Regardless of the expertise of the nurse administering the treatment, there are pre-requisites that are important to ensure that a universal standard of education, understanding and competence is possessed by all to maintain patient and nurse safety.

In compliance with the Hazard Communication Standard, all personnel involved in any aspect of the handling of MMC or BCG (physicians, nurses, employees involved in receiving, transport or storage) must receive information and training to appraise them of the hazards of the drugs present in the work area. Such information should be provided at the time of an employee's initial assignment to a work area where the drugs are present. The employer should provide annual refresher information and training. [22]

The nurse specialist administering intravesical treatment needs to be trained and assessed by a competent practitioner according to local guidelines. It is also important that the nurse specialist remains up to date with the skill to maintain competence.

It is also a pre-requisite that the nurse is assessed to be competent in urethral catheterisation. [46]

The decision to initiate intravesical treatment should be made by the urological surgeon or at the multidisciplinary team meeting. In countries where specialist nurses have a license to prescribe medication, it remains good practice for the decision to initiate intravesical treatment to be made in consultation with the urologist and multidisciplinary team.

Maintain knowledge/skill in:	Rationale
Bladder cancer pathway	To ensure other elements of treatment/ investigation take place as required
Indication for treatment	To ensure the patient meets requirements for treatment To ensure the treatment is beneficial for the patient To help the patient understand the benefits of treatment for their disease
Data supporting use of treatment	To help the patient understand the benefits of treatment
Importance of counselling the patient regarding the treatment	To help ensure concordance and compliance
Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the agent being used	The nurse should have an understanding of any medication that they administer to a patient To help the patient understand how the treatment works and how it affects their disease

Table 5. Nurse education for bladder instillation

Contraindications of treatments	To maintain patient safety
The physical and health hazards of MMC and BCG in the work area and the measures employees can take to protect themselves from these hazards	To maintain patient safety To maintain nurse safety To maintain safety of others/environment
Management of spillages	To maintain patient safety To maintain nurse safety To maintain safety of others/environment
Anatomy and physiology of the urinary tract	To understand the effect of treatment on the urinary tract To understand urinary tract side effects To comply with requirements for catheterisation
Competent in urethral catheterisation	To ensure safe and effective administration of the treatment and reduce risk of side effects
Side effects of the agent being used	To help patients manage side effects To help improve concordance and compliance To identify side effects that require further management To counsel the patient effectively
Dose/schedule	To ensure the treatment is administered in a timely fashion
Personal protective equipment to be used when performing intravesical instillation	To maintain nurse safety To maintain safety of others/environment
The carcinogenic potential and reproductive hazards of these drugs	To understand the importance of avoiding drug exposure, especially early in pregnancy, so that they can make informed decisions about the hazards involved

Recordkeeping

The competent practitioner who educates the nurse should make training records including the following information:

- Dates of the training sessions;
- Contents or a summary of the training sessions;
- Names and qualifications of the persons conducting the training; and
- Names and job titles of all persons attending the training sessions.

Training records should be maintained for three years from the date on which the training occurred. [22]

The training document in appendix 14.7 is available as printable Word file on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines.

Recommendations	LE	GR
Nurses should maintain a universal standard of education, understanding and competence in relation to intravesical therapies	4	с
All staff involved in handling hazardous drugs must receive training on the hazards	4	с
Nurse specialist administering intravesical therapies needs to be trained and assessed by a competent practitioner	4	с
In countries where nurses have a licence to prescribe medication the decision to initiate intravesical therapies should be made by the multi-disciplinary team	4	с
Training records should be maintained	4	с

8. Principles of management of nursing interventions

Before starting the intravesical instillation, some general aspects should be considered. In this chapter we describe aspects related to patients, medication used, and administration procedures.

8.1 Patient assessment

Prior to initial and subsequent administration of intravesical therapy, the patient should be assessed before and after all instillations with regard to:

- Overall health status
- Specific urological health status
- Ability to understand the procedure
- Ability to comply with the treatment plan
- Understanding treatment complications

8.1.1 Pre-procedure

Assessing the patient prior to commencing each intravesical therapy aims to:

- Highlight any potential risks or complications from treatment
- Identify any individual patient requirements that may affect compliance, concordance and efficacy of treatment
- Help manage patient expectations
- Highlight any aspects requiring specialist referral or further assessment

The common problems of patient assessment are highlighted below.

A common tool for undertaking nursing assessment is using a model of nursing care such as the Roper, Logan and Tierney Activities of Daily Living model of nursing assessment. [47] This assessment is undertaken at the outset of treatment and highlights the normal situation for patients and identifies the changes that occur during their illness.

8.1.2 Common problems identified during assessment

Maintaining a safe environment				
Finding	Nursing solution	LE		
Inability to mobilise to/from toilet	Consider indwelling catheter with clamp/ valve for dwell time	4		
Neurological impairment	Consider keeping patient in clinic for dwell time	4		
History of traumatic/difficult catheterisation causing urethral bleeding	Catheterise with extra care, use more lubricant than usual, consider alternative catheter, or more experienced personnel	4		
Communication				
Finding	Nursing solution	LE		
Inability to understand rationale for treatment	Provide explanation and written information	4		
Memory or mental health problems	Ensure carer available or keep patient in hospital/clinic for whole dwell time	4		
Inability to understand the importance of holding urine for dwell time	Consider indwelling urethral catheterisation with clamp/valve for dwell time	4		
Eating, drinking and smoking				
Finding	Nursing solution	LE		
Unable/unwilling to restrict fluid intake prior to instillation	Advise that restricting fluid intake may help to maintain intravesical therapy for desired time [48]	3		
Unwilling to drink excess fluid after dwell time	Advise increased fluid intake after dwell time may help eliminate intravesical therapy agents from bladder and reduce risk of side effects	4		
Current smoker	Inform that smoking has been shown to reduce the efficacy of BCG immunotherapy [49,50]	2a		
Elimination				
Finding	Nursing solution	LE		
Lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS)	Assess LUTS with International Prostate Symptom Score (IPSS) prior to treatment	4		
Storage symptoms	Consider management of storage symptoms which are likely to worsen during treatment (e.g. anticholinergics, containment products) [51]	4		

High fever (> 38.5°C)	Discuss with doctor and consider interruption of treatment	4
Finding	Nursing solution	LE
Controlling body temperature		
Urinary incontinence	Consider containment products or indwelling urethral catheterisation for dwell time.	4
Signs/symptoms of UTI	Send urine for culture and withhold treatment	4
	In patients with residual urine, consider blockers, 5 α -reductase inhibitors, intermittent self-catheterisation, and surgical management	
Obstructive symptoms (affecting elimination of intravesical therapy)	Consider post-micturition bladder scan to ensure intravesical therapy agents are eliminated from the bladder	4

8.1.3 Informed consent

In some centres the patient may be asked to sign a consent form, whereas in other centres, verbal consent may be obtained, depending on local regulations. It is important that before administering treatment, the nurse is confident that the patient has been informed regarding the benefits and risks of intravesical instillation.

8.2 Preparation of bladder instillation medication

BCG should not be prepared in areas where intravenous drugs are prepared, because nosocomial infections have been reported in patients receiving parenteral drugs which were prepared in areas in which BCG was prepared. [52]

Procedure

Follow the manufacturer's package insert (SPC) for proper preparation of MMC and BCG.

Dosage

Dose range for MMC is 20–60 mg. The most frequent dose currently is 40 mg. Dose of BCG is based on the number of CFUs (colony forming units), which depends on the specific BCG strain and varies between 1 to 8 x 10⁸ and 10⁹ CFUs. In clinical practice, milligram dosages are often used (range 40-120 mg, depending on the strain). [53]

Recommendation	LE	GR
BCG should not be prepared in areas where intravenous drugs are prepared. [52]		В

8.3 Medication pre-procedure

Anticholinergics

If the patient has a pre-existing storage symptoms anticholinergics may be effective if suitable. [54] Caution must be used in patients with conditions that could be aggravated by this medication, for example, angle-closure glaucoma, benign prostatic hyperplasia, and cardiac disease. If anticholinergics are ineffective or contraindicated, β -agonists may be used. A study by Johnson et al. (2013) found no benefit in using oxybutynin routinely as prophylaxis against urinary symptoms during bacillus Calmette-Guérin therapy. [55]

Analgesics

There is no contraindication for non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents.

Alkalising agents

Urinary alkalisation decreases degradation of MMC. Increasing urine pH from 5 to 7 has an estimated improvement factor of 1.6. In certain cases, a patient can be prescribed sodium bicarbonate (1.3 g) in the evening prior to, and an additional dose on the day of instillation to increase urine pH and maximise efficacy. [54]

Antibiotics

There is no evidence that concurrent use of antibiotics decreases the efficacy of BCG or MMC, but if a patient is being treated with antibiotics, starting bladder instillation should be discussed with the prescribing physician.

Diuretics

When patients are prescribed diuretics as part of their regular medication, the need to refrain from taking prescribed diuretics must be verified with the patients' urologist, because this is a patient-specific issue. Instruct the patient to minimise fluid intake in the hours before treatment to minimise urine production during treatment. [56] (LE 4) This may also assist the patient with the ability to hold the instilled medication for the prescribed dwell time.

8.4 Administration of intravesical instillation

Information on how the instillation can be performed in a safe and appropriate way is shown in a table in Appendix 14.1.

8.4.1 Positioning of the patient

The anatomy of the empty bladder allows the wall of the bladder to make contact with the intravesical medication, and the patient should be encouraged to mobilise as usual. In some hospitals and clinics, after the drugs are instilled, the patient is rotated side-to-side every 15 min. to enhance contact of the drug with the entire bladder mucosa. In the product description (SPC) of BGC Tice, patients are advised to rotate after instillation, whereas staying mobile is advised in SPC of BCG Medac. [21,57] However, there is no evidence to support these practices.

8.4.2 Cleaning of the meatus

Routine daily personal hygiene is all that is needed to maintain meatal hygiene. [58-62] Trials of various cleaning agents, such as chlorhexidine and saline, have failed to reduce bacterial growth rate, therefore, soap and water is sufficient to achieve effective meatal cleaning. [6,63,64]

8.4.3 Instillation equipment





Fig. 5a Equipment for BCG instillation (Courtesy: W. De Blok)

Fig. 5b Equipment for MMC instillation

8.4.3.1 Catheter type and size

Where possible an intermittent catheter should be used. Some considerations for the choice of catheter for the intravesical instillation are listed:

- The smallest size possible should be used, to prevent causing pressure and injuring urethral tissue [62] and to prevent too rapid instillation.
- Hydrophilic catheters decrease the risk of discomfort, trauma and post-catheterisation infection. [65-67]
- Luer lock catheters reduce the risk of spillage by maintaining a closed system. Some
 intermittent catheters have the luer lock end integrated, whereas indwelling catheters
 need an adaptor attached before the instillation procedure. Some of the MMC and BCG
 products in "ready to use packaging" are equipped with the luer lock system.

• First choice for instillation is an intermittent catheter; an indwelling catheter should only be placed when there is a clear indication. It should not stay in place longer than necessary. [62]





Fig. 6a and 6b Luer lock catheter and syringe with mitomycine (Courtesy: W. De Blok)

Recommendations		GR
In intravesical instillations an intermittent catheter with the smallest size possible should be used [62]	4	с
In intravesical instillations a luer lock catheter is recommended to reduce risk of exposure		с
If possible choose a hydrophilic catheter to reduce risk of discomfort, trauma and infection [65–67]		В
Use 10-15 ml of lubricants when a non-hydrophilic catheter is used [62,68]		В

8.4.3.2 Lubricant

For non-hydrophilic catheters, 10–15 ml of lubricant with lidocaine and chlorhexidine should be used. [62,68] This dose does not significantly reduce the efficacy of BCG therapy.

Safety precautions

BCG

Atraumatic catheterisation is essential for the safe instillation of BCG. Major complications can appear after systemic drug absorption. Thus, contraindications for BCG intravesical instillation should be respected. BCG is contraindicated:

- during the first 2 weeks after TUR-BT;
- in patients with macroscopic haematuria;
- after traumatic catheterisation;
- in patients with symptomatic UTI.

[1] (LE: 3)
ммс

Nurses should observe urine before the treatment and contact the physician in case of gross haematuria.

8.4.4 Ability of the bladder to hold medication

There is no evidence to support that reduced bladder capacity decreases the effectiveness of intravesical therapy. The total volume of either drug solution is < 60 ml and therefore should be tolerated by any bladder capacity. Factors that may assist patients with reduced bladder capacity to retain these medications for the prescribed dwell time include:

- minimising the volume of the drug solution to be instilled to increase the concentration in the urine, and therefore, facilitate diffusion across the urinary mucosa; [54]
- treating with anticholinergics.

8.4.5 Post-operative administration of MMC

The most favourable time for postoperative instillation of MMC is within 6 h after TUR-BT.

The rationale for immediate postoperative instillation is:

- prevention of implantation of circulating tumour cells in the bladder;
- chemoresection of any residual tumour cells. [1]

In a meta-analysis of 18 RCTs (with 3,103 patients), 37% of patients receiving a single dose of MMC chemotherapy immediately after TUR-BT experienced recurrence, compared to 50% of those who had undergone TUR-BT alone. [7] This means that 7 patients need to be treated to avoid 1 recurrence. Some authors consider this number an underestimation. [6]

The dwell time was 1 h in most studies (range: 25–120 min.). Although recent RCTs have failed to show significant benefit of a single postoperative instillation, the above meta-analysis reported a pooled relative risk of recurrence of 0.67 (95% confidence interval: 0.56–0.79). [7] If a T1, TIS or Ta high-grade tumour is suspected, the benefit of immediate instillation is not supported by consistent evidence and remains only an option. [69]

In a study by Kaasinen et al. (2002) [70] administration of the first postoperative instillation later than on Day 0 was associated with > 2-fold relative risk of recurrence in multivariate analysis. [70]

8.4.6 Dwell time

ммс

Efficacy of intravesical MMC chemotherapy is relative to the duration of exposure and drug concentration at the tumour site. Dilution of the MMC solution by urine production occurs within 5 min. of instillation.[71] Although dwell time is still subject to debate, recurrence rates are lower with an increase in dwell time from 30 to 60 min. [72] Systemic drug absorption is not affected by extended exposure to MMC. The dwell time that is commonly practised is 1-2 h. Longer periods are not recommended due to dilution of the drug concentration over time as urine is transported into the bladder.

8.5 Patient education

Why

No identified studies have demonstrated that patient education affects quality of life, outcomes, side effects or increased treatment compliance. However, the purpose of education is to empower patients and/or caregivers to enable them to have more control and ease problem solving related to intravesical instillation. A fundamental role of nursing is patient education. Before any intravesical therapy begins, patients need to be informed about the mechanism of action of their therapy and any side effects that may occur. Schedules and post-procedural follow-up are included in this education. Education needs to be directed to patients and caregivers. The communication skills and attitudes of health care professionals are instrumental in promoting confidence in completing the procedure and can promote longterm compliance.

Who

Health professionals need to communicate the procedure to the patient. When patients are discharged, caregivers and those living with the patients require instructions on the precautions needed at home.

When

To decrease anxiety about the treatment, it is important to instruct patients about the necessary steps of the procedure that they are about to undergo. Upon discharge, patients need to know where and when to void, including proper handling of any spilled urine. After discharge, it is important that patients are counselled regarding signs of local and systemic skin reactions, and notify their physicians if any of these unforeseen changes occur. [73]

Where

Teaching should take place in the clinic prior to any treatment.

How

The educator should assess the best method of learning for each individual patient (i.e. verbal instruction, booklets, or digital information). All verbal information should be reinforced with written information that the patients and caregivers can keep and consult.

What

The following topics should be discussed

- Medications to avoid/delay prior to instillation (see Section 8.3)
 - o Antibiotics
 - o Diuretics
- Fluid intake management
 - Prior to each treatment, fluids should be restricted to maximise the concentration of the drug in contact with the bladder wall. Patients should refrain from fluid intake for 8 h prior to instillation.[74] This minimises urine production during therapy and increases the ability of patients to retain the agent for the prescribed dwell time; usually 2 h.
 - o Upon treatment completion on any day, patients should be instructed to increase

fluid intake to flush out any remaining agent from the bladder.

- Voiding post-procedure
 - o Upon completion of the prescribed dwell time, patients should void directly into the toilet, and male patients should sit when voiding. This is to limit splashing and contact of surfaces with residual agents.
 - o The toilet should be flushed twice, with the lid in the closed position if available, after each void.
 - o It is common practice in some countries to advise patients undergoing BCG therapy that 250 ml of bleach/hypochlorite should be poured into the toilet and remain there for 15 min before flushing. However, no evidence has been found to support this.
 - o Hands should be thoroughly washed after voiding.
 - o In the case of MMC therapy, due to the possibility of contact dermatitis, patients should be instructed to wash their genitalia after voiding. [34]
- The most common side effects associated with BCG (see Section 9.2)
- The most common side effects associated with MMC (see Section 9.3)
- Urinary tract irritation is a common reaction to all agents. This may be due to chemical cystitis and not a bacterial infection. Patients should be informed of the signs and symptoms of UTI. (see checklist in appendix 14.2)
- Launder any clothing that may be contaminated with these agents, due to spillage or incontinence, separately from other clothing.
- Instruct patients that they may resume normal activity, including health maintenance, diet and exercise for a healthy lifestyle.
- In patients who are sexually active, instruct them to use barrier/protective mechanisms during intercourse (i.e. condoms) or to abstain from intercourse for 1 week after treatment.
- Alcohol should be avoided due to its diuretic effect.

For easy reference, a checklist is provided, which is intended to assist health care professionals to check whether all the information that needs to be given to the patients has been provided.

The checklist for patient information can be found in: Appendix 14.2: Checklist for patient information

Recommendations	LE	GR
Before any intravesical therapy begins, nurses need to inform patients and care givers about the therapy, fluid intake, safety precautions that should be taken and any side effects that may occur.	4	С
The educator should assess the best method of learning for each individual patient.	4	C

9. Complications and side effects

9.1 Catheter associated bacteriuria

Insertion of a catheter outside an operating theatre is a risk factor for developing bacteriuria. Bacteriuria is acquired at a rate of 1-3% per catheterisation. [75]

Aseptic technique must be used when inserting the catheter before instillation. To minimise the risk of cross-infection health care professionals should be constantly aware of their hand hygiene. [46]

Recommendations	LE	GR
Aseptic technique should be used when inserting the catheter before intravesical instillation [75–77]	3	В
Health care professionals should be constantly aware of their hand hygiene and observe protocols on hand hygiene [75,76]	1b	A

9.2 Side effects of MMC

The high molecular weight of MMC results in low absorption, therefore, it does not usually cause systemic toxicity. However, local toxicity is more common, resulting in chemical cystitis, allergic rash, and palmar or genital desquamation from contact dermatitis. [57]

9.2.1 Side effects

Local side effects: chemical cystitis

Administration of cytotoxic chemotherapy into the bladder can induce an array of irritative voiding symptoms. Most of the adverse effects occur during the first 6 months of therapy. [78] These side effects may be treated symptomatically:

- dysuria
- frequency
- urgency
- suprapubic discomfort
- gross haematuria
- pelvic pain

The above symptoms are collectively referred to as chemical cystitis. [73,79–83] The incidence of chemical cystitis is ~10%, and the prevalence of symptoms is 1-25%. [73]

There are other severe local side effects of intravesical chemotherapy [73,80,81,84,85]:

- transmural and extravesical fat necrosis
- bladder wall ulceration and calcification

Systemic side effects

Intravesical chemotherapy can cause skin toxicity, both by direct contact and systemic

exposure following absorption through the bladder epithelium. An estimated 9% of patients develop some type of cutaneous side effect. Common manifestations of skin reactions include a generalised rash, along with dermatitis of the hands and feet or genitalia. Other reported symptoms include eruptions of the face, trunk, or chest, vulvar dermatitis, and palpable purpura of the lower extremities. [73,80,82,86,87]

Long-term complications

• Benign chronic ulcers at the resection site have been described and are attributed to the effect of impaired healing from chemotherapy. Calcification, fibrosis, reduced bladder volume, and reduced bladder compliance are less common. [73,80,83,88,89]

9.2.2 How to reduce risk of side effects of MMC

One of the first factors to be considered is the risk of drug absorption, which may result in systemic toxicity. Although some factors that affect drug absorption may be under the control of the operating surgeon (such as surgical technique and depth of resection), others are strictly related to the physical properties of the drug. Such properties include molecular weight, concentration, and liphophilicity. Others factors that may increase absorption include drug dwell time and bladder wall integrity. [73]

Other strategies to help reduce discomfort during treatment include ensuring that the bladder is empty before drug instillation, and ensuring meticulous haemostasis at the end of resection to prevent accumulation of blood clots that may occlude the catheter and exacerbate the symptoms. [73] A novel technique has been proposed to improve patient comfort during intravesical instillation of MMC. Some of the pain associated with perioperative instillation results from the rigid resistance of a clamped catheter, and it is proposed to maintain the chemotherapeutic agent in the bladder without clamping. By elevating the urine bag 1 m above the supine patient, MMC can be retained in the bladder by hydrostatic pressure. [73,90]

The most important method to reduce the incidence of necrosis and ulceration is to establish meticulous haemostasis after tumour resection and perform intraoperative cystography if there is any suspicion of bladder injury. [73]

9.2.3 How to manage side effects of MMC

Intraperitoneal extravasation: initial management comprises immediate evacuation of the drug, followed by confirmation by cystography. Exploratory laparotomy is required to confirm evacuation of the drug and repair of the defect. [73,91]

Extraperitoneal extravasation: management involves catheter drainage, but it is also essential to perform imaging to evaluate fluid collection, abscess formation, fistula formation, or bowel obstruction. Fluid collections should be drained and culture-directed antibiotics initiated. [73,91]

Chemical cystitis: symptoms are usually self-limiting and require no further treatment in the perioperative setting. Agents such as phenazopyridine and anticholinergics can be used in difficult cases. Powdered opium and belladonna alkaloid suppositories can also be used during instillation to provide relief of bladder spams and discomfort, and to help with

retention of the intravesical agent. [73]

Skin toxicity: in most cases, cutaneous side effects resolve after removal of the causative agent. Antihistamines and corticosteroids are useful for those who develop generalised urticaria. [73,86]

Myelosuppression: management is usually supportive. Blood products may be given in severe cases of myelosuppression, but the incidence of severe myelosuppression is low. [73]

Recommendation	LE	GR
To ensure that the bladder is empty before instilling BCG or MMC and ensure meticulous haemostasis at the end of bladder tumour resection [73]	3	с

Side effects of MMC [73,86,91]				
MMC – local	Nursing solution	LE	GR	
Chemical cystitis	 Treat these side effects symptomatically. Agents such as phenazopyridine and anticholinergics can be used in more bothersome cases. Powdered opium and belladonna alkaloids in a suppository form can also be used during instillation to provide relief of spams and discomfort, and to help with retention 	3	C	
MMC – systemic	of the intravesical agent Nursing solution	LE	GR	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Skin toxicity	- Remove exposing agent	3	C	
	- Use antihistamines and corticosteroids			
Myelosuppression	- Blood products may be given in severe cases	3	c	
Intraperitoneal extravasation	- Call the doctor for immediate evacuation of the agent followed by cystography	3	C	
Extraperitoneal extravasation	- Fluid collections should be drained with a catheter	3	С	
	- Initiate antibiotic prophylaxis			

9.3 Common side effects of BCG

Intravesical BCG is associated with more side effects compared to intravesical chemotherapy. [1] The most common side effects of BCG treatment are increased urinary frequency, dysuria and urgency. These effects are reported in > 90% of patients receiving therapy. [92] In a study by EORTC, 20% of patients treated for 3 years with BCG stopped treatment due to local or systemic side effects. [93] However, serious side effects are encountered in < 5% of patients and can be treated effectively in almost all cases. [1] Maintenance therapy is not associated with an increased risk of side effects compared with induction. [1] Major complications can appear after systemic absorption of BCG. Thus, contraindications to intravesical instillation of BCG should be respected. [1]

9.3.1 Side effects

The most common side effects of intravesical instillation of BCG are:

- cystitis [1,94-104]
- haematuria [1,94,95,97,99,101,102,105,106]
- symptomatic granulomatous prostatitis [1,95,99,101,102,106-111]
- epididymo-orchitis [1,95,101,102,106,112-116]

Rare local side effects are listed in Appendix 14.3.

The most common systemic side effects of intravesical instillation of BCG are:

- general malaise, fever [1,94,97,99-102,104-106,117-120]
- allergic reactions [1,95,97,101]

Less common side effects are: arthralgia and/or arthritis [1,102,106,121-125] and BCG sepsis [1,94,95,102,103,106,126-131]

Rare systemic side effects are listed in Appendix 14.3.

In four of five studies with toxicity data, BCG-associated cystitis was significantly more frequent than MMC-associated cystitis (53.8% vs 39.2%). [98]

9.3.2 How to reduce risk of side effects of BCG

In a pilot study a sequential administration of 40 mg of hyaluronic acid reduced local side effects of BCG. [132] Further studies are needed.

Prophylactic ofloxacin (a fluoroquinolone antibiotic) decreased the incidence of moderate to severe adverse events associated with BCG, which are primarily associated with patient dropout. Compliance with induction and maintenance therapy may be improved by adjuvant ofloxacin therapy. However, long-term comparative studies with other preventive strategies must be done to confirm these initial findings with compliance and recurrence-free survival as the primary end points.[133] Ciprofloxacine is now more widely used.

9.3.3 How to manage side effects of BCG

Management of side effects after BCG should reflect their type and grade. Recommendations for individual situations are provided by the International Bladder Cancer Group (IBCG). [95]

No significant differences in toxicity are detected according to dose (one-third dose vs full dose) or duration (1 yr. vs 3 yr.) of BCG treatment. Neither reducing the dose nor shortening the duration of maintenance decreased the percentage of patients who stopped treatment because of side effects. [134,135]

Recommendations	LE	GR
Dose reduction to 1/3 of the usual dose for the reduction of side effects is no longer recommended. [134,135]	1b	Α

10. Patient Quality of Life (QoL)

10.1 Impact of intravesical instillations on the patient reported

outcome

Introduction

NMIBC considerably affects a patient's daily life for different reasons. Increased recognition of impairment related to cancer treatment reveals a growing interest in patient-reported outcomes (PROs). PROs are defined as perceived current health status as expressed by health-related quality of life (HRQoL) or treatment satisfaction. [136,137] The term HRQoL was introduced to distinguish between general QoL and the current level of functioning as it is perceived by patients.

The limited evidence base for PROs in bladder cancer is due to limited RCTs, no preprocedural baseline assessments, and longitudinal data to evaluate the impact on patient QoL over time. In addition, there was no validated instrument specific to bladder cancer until recently introduced by EORTC.

Examples of tools to assess QoL are shown in appendix 14.5.

General HRQoL status

Early attempts to determine HRQoL found that patients with high-risk NMIBC and CIS had significantly worse body functioning and therefore worse HRQoL compared with the general population. [138,139] A prospective study of Japanese men showed that general health perception was severely impaired in patients with NMIBC and CIS compared with sex- and age-matched controls, using the validated SF-36 questionnaire (see Appendix 14.5, table 6). The most severe impairment was observed in the overall global health score regardless of primary or recurrent disease. [139]

Symptoms as predictors of HRQoL

Psychological distress and physical symptoms of patients are intense at the time of diagnosis of bladder cancer, however these symptoms are transient. Global HRQoL improves during follow-up with maintenance therapy using topical BCG. [139]

Unlike other early-stage urological malignant diseases, such as localised renal cancer and prostate cancer, patients with NMIBC frequently exhibit urinary tract symptoms. These symptoms may be partly responsible for the initial impairment in addition to cancer diagnosis, however not documented.

Overtime factor

Patients' HRQoL is considered to be affected by loss of their autonomy in daily life. A five year follow up study of 76 NMIBC patients showed that autonomy and other sociodemographic factors (such as old age and comorbidities) were determinants of QoL [140] although not compared to normal population. Moreover, the patient's family situation is expected to have

a critical impact on emotional and social well-being, although this is not well documented in NMIBC. [141]

According to the definition HRQoL is a multi-dimensional construct. Domains such as social function, role and emotional functions are associated with working status and reported to be severely impaired after the first cycle of BCG. Physical function is impaired further after the second or third TUR-BT. [139,142] HRQoL gradually returns to initial levels during follow-up, even with tumour recurrence in long-term survivors. [140,141] It is speculated that patients undergoing frequent TUR-BT (\geq 4 times) may accept bladder cancer as part of their daily lives, and may not be suffering from this disease to the same degree as before due to the over-time factor. [139]

A prospective RCT of the efficacy, safety and impact on HRQoL comparing a conservative pathway with an alternative maintenance strategy of BCG documented that there was no difference in function or symptom scales at 14 months follow-up after randomisation. [143]

Regardless of limited long term evidence regarding HRQoL even patients with tumour recurrence are reported to return to initial levels. [139-141] No evidence was found describing whether MMC or BCG is superior regarding impact on HRQoL. [144]

Conclusion

Patients experience a high impact on HRQoL at the time of diagnosis but often experience a gradual return to initial HRQoL status when undergoing frequent TUR-BT and instillation therapy.

Recommendations	LE	GR
When assessing patients before treatment predictors for intermittent loss of HRQoL such as autonomy in daily life, comorbidities, older age and family situation should be assessed. [140]	3	В
The multi-professional team should Inform, educate, comfort and motivate NMIBC and CIS patients regarding treatment impact on global health and when to expect to regain initial HRQoL status. [139,142]	3	В
 Patients should be informed pre-procedure that: Most patient will regain initial HRQoL status within one year. [139] Most domains included in global HRQoL will return to initial levels except from physical function within one year. [145] Social function, role and emotional functions, which are also associated with working status, are most severely impaired at the first cycle of BCG. [139] 	3 2a 3	B B B

11. Documentation

11.1 What needs to be documented

When a patient starts intravesical instillation the following data must be collected and documented:

- Name of patient
- Date of birth
- Medication agent
- Dose prescribed
- Mode of administration
- Date of administration
- Initials of the doctor and nurse (and verification nurse)
- Side effects/reactions to earlier treatment

Local policy may differ from the above.

A scheme for MMC and BCG instillation can be found in Appendix 14.1: Procedures for intravesical instillation

11.2 Examples of documentation

Examples of documentation can be found in Appendix 14.8: Examples documentation for MMC and BCG instillation

12. Glossary and abbreviations

Glossary

- Mutagenic effects Changes in the genetic information of cells
- Carcinogenic effects Tumour causing
- Antineoplastic Antitumour

Abbreviations

- BSC Biological safety cabinet
- BCG Bacillus Calmette-Guérin
- CIS Carcinoma in situ
- EORTC European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer
- LR
- HR
- IR Intermediate risk
- MMC Mitomycin C
- NMIBC Non-muscle invasive bladder cancer
- OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration
- SPC Summary of Product Characteristics

Low risk

High risk

- TUR-BT Transurethral resection of bladder tumour
- UTI Urinary tract infection

13. Figure reference list

Figure front pageCourtesy: Visible Health, Inc. Created using drawMD Urology www.drawmd.com and reproduced with permission by Visible Health, Inc.Fig. 1Aerosolisation of the medication when introducing a needle into the vial. Courtesy: CareFusion, www.carefusion.com9Fig. 2aEquipment for reconstitution with a CSTD19Fig. 2bSolved BCG19Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol- Label-10/dp/BooBXQ0IYE/21
Visible Health, Inc.Fig. 1Aerosolisation of the medication when introducing a needle into the vial. Courtesy: CareFusion, www.carefusion.comFig. 2aEquipment for reconstitution with a CSTDFig. 2bSolved BCGFig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTDFig. 3aBefore instillationFig. 3bPerforming instillationFig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste binFig. 4aExamples of warning signsCourtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdfFig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-
Fig. 1Aerosolisation of the medication when introducing a needle into the vial. Courtesy: CareFusion, www.carefusion.com9Fig. 2aEquipment for reconstitution with a CSTD19Fig. 2bSolved BCG19Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Courtesy: CareFusion, www.carefusion.com9Fig. 2aEquipment for reconstitution with a CSTD19Fig. 2bSolved BCG19Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Courtesy: CareFusion, www.carefusion.com9Fig. 2aEquipment for reconstitution with a CSTD19Fig. 2bSolved BCG19Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 2aEquipment for reconstitution with a CSTD19Fig. 2bSolved BCG19Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 2bSolved BCG19Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 2cSyringe BCG using a CSTD19Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 3aBefore instillation20Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 3bPerforming instillation20Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 3cRetrieving catheter in folded pad and dispose of in hospital waste bin20Fig. 4aExamples of warning signs21Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf21Fig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-21
Fig. 4a Examples of warning signs 21 Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn 1 http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ 21 Cytostatica.pdf 21 Fig. 4b Examples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com 21 http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol- 21
Courtesy: Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijnhttp://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdfFig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-
http://www.staz.nl/downloads/algemeen/publicaties/Richtlijn_ Cytostatica.pdf Fig. 4b Examples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com 21 http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-
Cytostatica.pdfFig. 4bExamples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com21http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-
<tb>Fig. 4b Examples of warning signs. From: Amazon, www.amazon.com 21 http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-</tb>
http://www.amazon.com/Chemotherapy-Biohazard-Symbol-
Fig. 4c, 4d Examples of warning signs. From: Microsoft Office, www.office.com 21
Fig. 5a Equipment for BCG instillation 33
Courtesy: W. De Blok
Fig. 5b, 5c, 5d Equipment for MMC instillation 33
Courtesy: W. De Blok
Fig. 6a, 6b Luer lock catheter 34
Courtesy: W. De Blok

14. Appendices

14.1 Procedures for intravesical instillation

Example protocol for intravesical instillation of MMC using an intermittent catheter

No.	Activity	Section in these guidelines
1	Prepare room	
	- place a gurney/trolley/bed in the room	
	- place warning sign outside room	6.2.4
	- bring risk disposal bin inside room	6.2.3
	- place risk disposal bag for bed linen in the room	6.2.5
	- place hazard box /accident kit outside the room	6.2.5
	Materials needed:	
	- medication with appropriate connector	8.4.3-6.1-6.2.2
	- catheter (luer lock)	
	- 3-way luer lock valve	
	- 3-ml saline syringe to flush out the medication after administration	
	- required PPE: chemotherapy approved gloves, gown, mask and	6.3.1 - 6.2.3
	goggles	
	- 2 absorbent pads for use on the bed	6.2.3
	- incontinence protection material	6.1 - 6.4.1
	- meatal cleaning set (catheter set if applicable)	8.4.2
	- wash cloths and towel	6.3.1
2	Asses patient:	Chapter 8
	- check ID	
	- check informed consent	
	- check if the patient understood the instructions	
	- assess whether the patient has haematuria	
3	Prepare bed: place 1 pad beneath the buttocks of the patient to absorb	6.2.3
	any spillage	
4	Prepare medication as described by manufacturer if ready to use	6.2.1 - 6.2.2
	package (use gloves when handling the medication)	
5	Or: collect medication from the pharmacy department	6.2.1
6	Check the prescription, ID patient, and cross check	
7	Place all needed items within reach	
8	Connect the medication to the luer lock connector of the valve with 3 ml saline	6.1
9	Ask the patient to assume supine position	
10	Place the second absorbent pad with 1 corner of the pad beneath the genital area with 2 corners draped over the legs	6.2.3

	Clean the meatus	
11		8.4.2
12	Insert the catheter into the bladder	
13	Drain the bladder with the catheter until it is completely empty, and collect the drained urine if needed for culture or other purposes	
14	Connect the syringe, valve and medication to the luer lock end of the catheter	6.1 - 6.2.2 - 8.4.3
15	Open the valve, open the final connectors to the medication device, and let the medication go into the bladder without any extra pressure (gravity alone)	
16	Turn the valve to the position of the 3-ml saline syringe	
17	Expel residual medication out of the catheter by inserting the saline	6.1
18	Fold the 2nd absorbent pad around the catheter and gently remove the catheter from the patient into the folded pad. Maximal protection from spillage is obtained.	6.2.3
19	Throw away the folded pad with the catheter into the risk disposal bin	6.2.5
20	Dispose of the gloves into the risk disposal bin	6.2.5
21	Put on new gloves	6.3.1 - 6.2.3
22	Help the patient with cleaning of the genital area	6.4.1
23	Offer the patient incontinence protection (also to take home) and help with dressing if needed.	6.1 - 6.4.1
24	Check if the patient understood the instructions before leaving: after dwell time, urinate sitting down; flush the toilet twice with the lid closed; clean the genitalia after each voiding; and wash hands after the whole procedure.	6.1 - 6.4.1
25	Remove contaminated material (which has been in open contact with the medication) and dispose of in the correct bag or bin	6.2.5
26	Clean any non-disposable items with detergent and water	6.1 - 6.2.5 - 6.3.1

Example protocol for intravesical instillation of BCG using an intermittent catheter

No.	Activity	Section in these guidelines
1	Prepare room	
	- place a gurney/trolley/bed in the room	
	- place warning sign outside room	6.2.4
	- bring risk disposal bin inside room	6.2.3
	- place risk disposal bag for bed linen in the room	6.2.5
	- place hazard box /accident kit outside the room	6.2.5
	Materials needed: - medication with appropriate connector in order to reach a closed system	8.4.3-6.1-6.2.2
	- catheter (luer lock)	
	- 3-way luer lock valve	
	- 3-ml saline syringe to flush out the medication after administration - required gloves: nitrile or neoprene	6.3.1 - 6.2.3
	- 2 absorbent pads for use on the bed	6.2.3
	- incontinence protection material	6.1 - 6.4.1
	- meatal cleaning set (catheter set if applicable)	8.4.2
	- wash cloths and towel	6.3.1
2	Asses patient: - check ID	Chapter 8
	- check ID	
	- check if the patient understood the instructions	
	- assess whether the patient has haematuria	
3	Prepare bed: place 1 pad beneath the buttocks of the patient to absorb any spillage	6.2.3
4	Prepare medication as described by manufacturer if ready to use package	6.2.1 - 6.2.2
5	Or: collect medication from the pharmacy department	6.2.1
6	Check the prescription, ID patient, and cross check	
7	Place all needed items within reach	
8	Connect the medication to the luer lock connector of the valve with 3 ml saline	6.1
9	Ask the patient to assume supine position	
10	Place the second absorbent pad with 1 corner of the pad beneath the genital area with 2 corners draped over the legs	6.2.3
11	Clean the meatus	8.4.2
12	Insert the catheter into the bladder	
13	Drain the bladder with the catheter until it is completely empty, and collect the drained urine if needed for culture or other purposes	

Connect the syringe, valve and medication to the luer lock end of the catheter	6.1 - 6.2.2 - 8.4.3
Open the valve, open the final connectors to the medication device, and let the medication go into the bladder without any extra pressure (gravity alone)	
Turn the valve to the position of the 3-ml saline syringe	
Expel residual medication out of the catheter by inserting the saline	6.1
Fold the 2nd absorbent pad around the catheter and gently remove the catheter from the patient into the folded pad. Maximal protection from spillage is obtained.	6.2.3
Throw away the folded pad with the catheter into the risk disposal bin	6.2.5
Dispose of the gloves into the risk disposal bin	6.2.5
Put on new gloves	6.3.1 - 6.2.3
Help the patient with cleaning of the genital area	6.4.1
Offer the patient incontinence protection (also to take home) and help with dressing if needed.	6.1 - 6.4.1
Check if the patient understood the instructions before leaving: after dwell time, urinate sitting down; flush the toilet twice with the lid closed; clean the genitalia after each voiding; and wash hands after the whole procedure.	6.1 - 6.4.1
Remove contaminated material (which has been in open contact with the medication) and dispose of in the correct bag or bin	6.2.5
Clean any non-disposable items with alcohol	6.1 - 6.2.5 - 6.3.1
	catheterOpen the valve, open the final connectors to the medication device, and let the medication go into the bladder without any extra pressure (gravity alone)Turn the valve to the position of the 3-ml saline syringeExpel residual medication out of the catheter by inserting the salineFold the 2nd absorbent pad around the catheter and gently remove the catheter from the patient into the folded pad. Maximal protection from spillage is obtained.Throw away the folded pad with the catheter into the risk disposal binDispose of the gloves into the risk disposal binPut on new glovesHelp the patient incontinence protection (also to take home) and help with dressing if needed.Check if the patient understood the instructions before leaving: after dwell time, urinate sitting down; flush the toilet twice with the lid closed; clean the genitalia after each voiding; and wash hands after the whole procedure.Remove contaminated material (which has been in open contact with the medication) and dispose of in the correct bag or bin

Example protocol for postoperative intravesical instillation of MMC

No.	Activity	Reference in guidelines
1	Prepare room	
	- place a gurney/trolley/bed in the room	
	- place warning sign outside room	6.2.4
	- bring risk disposal bin inside room	6.2.3
	- place risk disposal bag for bed linen in the room	6.2.5
	- place hazard box /accident kit outside the room	6.2.5
	Materials needed:	
	- medication with appropriate connector	8.4.3 - 6.1 - 6.2.2
	- catheter (luer lock)	
	- 3-way luer lock valve	
	- 3-ml saline syringe to flush out the medication after administration	
	- required PPE: chemotherapy approved gloves, gown, mask and goggles	6.3.1- 6.2.3
	- 2 absorbent pads for use on the bed	6.2.3
	- incontinence protection material	6.1 - 6.4.1
	- meatal cleaning set (catheter set if applicable)	8.4.2
	- wash cloths and towel	6.3.1
2	Asses patient:	Chapter 8
	- check ID	
	- check informed consent	
	- check if the patient understood the instructions	
	- assess whether the patient has gross haematuria	
	- assess whether there are clots blocking bladder drainage; if so,	
	postpone the instillation	
	- assess whether the patient has signs of bladder spasm; if so, decide	
	whether anti-cholinergic medication should be prescribed	
3	Prepare bed: place 1 pad beneath the buttocks of the patient to absorb any spillage	6.2.3
4	Prepare MMC as described by manufacturer of ready-to-use package (use gloves when handling)	6.2.1 - 6.2.2
5	Or: collect medication from the pharmacy department	6.2.1
6	Check the prescription, ID patient, and cross check	
-		
7	Place all needed items within reach	
8	Connect the medication to the luer lock connector of the valve with 3 ml saline	6.1
9	Ask the patient to take assume supine position	
10	Place the second absorbent pad with 1 corner of the pad beneath the genital area and underneath the catheter, with 2 corners draped over the legs	6.2.3

	-	
11	Connect the syringe, valve and medication to the luer lock end of the catheter	8.4.3 - 6.1 - 6.2.2
12	Open the valve, open the final connectors to the medication device, and let the medication go into the bladder without any extra pressure (gravity alone)	
13	Turn the valve to the position of the 3-ml saline syringe	
14	Expel residual medication out of the catheter by injecting the saline	6.1
15	Clamp the catheter to ensure the dwell time of the MMC	8.4.6
16	Avoid as much as possible opening the closed and contained system of the catheter and all its attachments. Any opening of the connections risks contamination.	6.1 - 6.2.2
17	Ensure that there is no leakage of medication alongside the catheter; if so, use incontinence pad to absorb it	6.1
18	In case of a bladder spasm that expels the medication, assess whether there is still any residual medication and try to avoid the spasms by use of anti-cholinergic medication	8.3
19	After the dwell time is completed and if the catheter can be removed, follow the instructions below	
20	Fold the 2nd absorbent pad around the catheter	6.1
21	Empty the catheter balloon and gently remove the catheter from the patient into the folded pad. This ensures maximal protection from spillage.	6.1
22	Throw away the folded pad with the catheter and all attachments into the risk disposal bin; note that all urine is also regarded as contaminated	6.2.3
23	Dispose of the gloves into the risk disposal bin	6.2.5
24	Put on new gloves	6.3.1 - 6.2.3
25	Help the patient with cleaning the genital area	6.4.1
26	Offer the patient incontinence protection (also to take home) and help with dressing if needed.	6.1 - 6.4.1
27	Check if the patient understood the instructions before leaving: after dwell time, urinate sitting down; flush the toilet twice with the lid closed; clean the genitalia after each voiding; and wash hands after the whole procedure.	6.1 - 6.4.1
28	Remove contaminated material (which has been in open contact with the medication) and dispose of in the correct bag or bin	6.2.5
29	Clean any non-disposables with detergent and water	6.1 - 6.2.5 - 6.3.1

14.2 Checklist for patient information

- Most common side effects associated with BCG (see Section 9.2)
- Most common side effects associated with MMC (see Section 9.3)
- Medications to avoid/delay prior to instillation visit
 - o Antibiotics
 - o Diuretics
- Fluid intake management
- Voiding post-procedure
- Irritative symptoms of the urinary tract may be due to cystitis or UTI. Instruct the patient on the signs and symptoms of a UTI.
 - o Burning on urination
 - o Frequency/urgency
 - o Painful voiding
 - o Foul smelling urine
 - o Cloudy/dark urine
 - o Fever and/or chills
 - o Haematuria
- Laundering of contaminated clothing
- Resuming normal activity, including health maintenance, diet and exercise
- Sexual activity

14.3 Rare side effects of BCG

Rare local side effects

- Penile granuloma [146-149]
- Bacteriuria [150]
- Bladder ulcer and calcifications [95,104,109,120,151,152]
- Contracted bladder [95,106]
- Ureteral obstructions [95,101,104,106]
- Urinary incontinence [102]
- Extravesical granuloma [104]
- Prostatic abscess [153]
- Renal abscess/mass [106,154,155]
- Suprarenal mycotic aortic aneurysm [117,118,156]
- Contact dermatitis [95,102,106,120,157]
- Ischemic colitis [99]
- Femoral artery aneurysm [158]
- Ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm [158]
- Pelvic and inguinal abscess [159]
- Granulomatous pyelonephritis [160]

Rare systemic side effects

- Pneumonitis, hepatitis [60,94,102,103,105,106,118,126,129,161-168]
- Granulomatous hepatitis and choroiditis [169,170]
- Myelosuppression [95,106]
- Decrease in the sperm count [43]
- Headache [102]
- Aortoduodenal fistula [169]
- Vertebral osteomyelitis, epidural abscess, cerebral tuberculoma [171]
- Acute renal failure, interstitial nephritis [172]
- Bilateral cervical lymphadenitis and chorioretinitis [173]
- Reiter's syndrome (pain, limitation of the cervical spine, synovitis of the right knee) [165]
- Persistent high-grade fever (> 38.5°C for > 2 days) [1,97,99,101,102,118]

14.4 Management options for side effects associated with intravesical BCG

Management options for side effects associated with intravesical BCG [95,100,174,175]

Management options for loca	al side effects (modified from IBCG group)
Symptoms of cystitis	Phenazopyridine, propantheline bromide, or NSAIDs
	If symptoms improve within a few days: continue instillations
	If symptoms persist or worsen: a. Postpone the instillation b. Perform a urine culture c. Start empirical antibiotic treatment
	If symptoms persist even with antibiotic treatment: d. With positive culture: antibiotic treatment according to sensitivity e. With negative culture: quinolones and potentially analgesic anti- inflammatory instillations once daily for 5 days (repeat cycle if necessary)
	If symptoms persist [100]: anti-tuberculosis drugs + corticosteroids.
	If no response to treatment and/or contracted bladder: radical cystectomy.
Haematuria	Perform urine culture to exclude haemorrhagic cystitis, if other symptoms present.
	If haematuria persists, perform cystoscopy to evaluate presence of bladder tumour.
Symptomatic	Symptoms rarely present: perform urine culture.
granulomatous prostatitis	Quinolones.
	If quinolones are not effective: isoniazid (300 mg/day) and rifampicin (600 mg/day) for 3 months.
	Cessation of intravesical therapy.
Epididymo-orchitis [174]	Perform urine culture and administer quinolones.
	Cessation of intravesical therapy.
	Orchidectomy if abscess or no response to treatment.
Management options for syst	emic side effects
General malaise, fever	Generally resolve within 48 hours, with or without antipyretics.

Arthralgia and/or arthritis Rare complication and considered autoimmune reaction. Arthralgia: treatment with NSAIDs. Arthralgia: treatment with NSAIDs. Arthritis: NSAIDs If no/partial response, proceed to corticosteroids, high-dose quinolones or anti-tuberculosis drugs [175] Persistent high-grade fever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h) Permanent discontinuation of BCG instillations. Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray. Prompt treatment with > two antimicrobial agents while diagnostic evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms. Delay therapy until reactions resolve.		
Arthritis: NSAIDs Arthritis: NSAIDs If no/partial response, proceed to corticosteroids, high-dose quinolones or anti-tuberculosis drugs [175] Persistent high-grade fever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h) Permanent discontinuation of BCG instillations. Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray. Prompt treatment with ≥ two antimicrobial agents while diagnostic evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. BCG sepsis Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.	Arthralgia and/or arthritis	Rare complication and considered autoimmune reaction.
If no/partial response, proceed to corticosteroids, high-dose quinolones or anti-tuberculosis drugs [175] Persistent high-grade fever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h) Permanent discontinuation of BCG instillations. Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray. Prompt treatment with ≥ two antimicrobial agents while diagnostic evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterocccus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms. Consider an enginal anti-inflammatory agents.		Arthralgia: treatment with NSAIDs.
quinolones or anti-tuberculosis drugs [175] Persistent high-grade fever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h) Permanent discontinuation of BCG instillations. Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray. Prompt treatment with ≥ two antimicrobial agents while diagnostic evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. BCG sepsis Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		Arthritis: NSAIDs
fever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h) Immediate evaluation: or construction fever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h) Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray. Prompt treatment with ≥ two antimicrobial agents while diagnostic evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. BCG sepsis Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: For severe infection: High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		
Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray. Prompt treatment with ≥ two antimicrobial agents while diagnostic evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. BCG sepsis Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		Permanent discontinuation of BCG instillations.
evaluation is conducted. Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist. BCG sepsis Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.	tever(> 38.5°C for > 48 h)	Immediate evaluation: urine culture, blood tests, chest X-ray.
BCG sepsis Prevention: initiate BCG at least 2 weeks post-TURB (if no signs and symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Allergic reactions Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		
symptoms of haematuria). Cessation of BCG. For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		Consultation with an infectious diseases specialist.
For severe infection: • High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.	BCG sepsis	
• High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. • Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative bacteria and/or Enterococcus. Allergic reactions Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents. Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		Cessation of BCG.
Consider high-dose quinolones or isoniazid and rifampicin for persistent symptoms.		 High-dose quinolones or isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol 1.2 g daily for 6 months. Early, high-dose corticosteroids as long as symptoms persist. Consider an empirical non-specific antibiotic to cover Gram-negative
persistent symptoms.	Allergic reactions	Antihistamines and anti-inflammatory agents.
Delay therapy until reactions resolve.		
		Delay therapy until reactions resolve.

BCG = bacillus Calmette-Guérin; IBCG = International Bladder Cancer Group; NSAID = nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; TURBT = transurethral resection of bladder tumour

Table 7.1 from: Non-Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer (Ta, T1 And Cis) - Limited Text Update April 2014, page 23. [1]

14.5 EORTC Quality of Life questionnaires



For more information and download: EORTC Quality of Life Department, http://groups.eortc.be/gol/

Intravesical instillation - March 2015



For more information and download: EORTC Quality of Life Department, http://groups.eortc.be/qol/

Table 6. Health-related quality-of-life instruments used in bladder cancer studies

General health-related quality-of-life instruments

- BDI Beck Depression Inventory
- FLZ Fragenzur zur Lebenszufriedenheit Module (German)
- HADS Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
- MLDL Munich Life Dimension List (German)
- PMS Profile of Mood States
- SF-36 Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short Form
- SIP Sickness Impact Profile

Cancer-specific instruments

- EORTC QLQ-C30 European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire
- FACT-G Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy General

Bladder-cancer-specific instruments

- EORTC QLQ-BLS24 European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire – Bladder Cancer Superficial
- EORTC QLQ-BLM30 European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire – Bladder Cancer Muscle Invasive
- FACT-BL Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy Bladder Cancer
- FACT-VCI Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy Vanderbilt Cystectomy Index

[176]

14.6 Example of Competency document

				European Association ef Urology Norses
Intravesical	instillation -	Compete	ency Docui	ment
Name				_ Title
	Per	formance	Criteria	
Please place a		completion of co = Completed/F		able for the employee's role.
Competency		Method of Evaluation	Learner's signature	Assessor's Name/Date
	cal pathway, indication bkinetics of the agents	Discussion		
Demonstrates safety	in handling of agents	Performance		
Demonstrates proper protective equipment		Performance		
Demonstrates Patient	Identification Process	Performance		
Demonstrates proper catheterisation	procedure for urethral	Performance		
Verbalises mana reporting of:	gement and			
Extravasation		Discussion		
Hypersensitive reaction	on	Discussion		
Adverse drug reaction	ו	Discussion		
Spillage of agent		Discussion		
Documentation		Discussion		
These competencies	s are reviewed and dis	scussed annual	ly.	
	Print Name		Signature	Date
Reviewer:				
Reviewer:				

Employee:

A printable PDF of this form will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines

	C	ď	Performance criteria	eria	
	Association of Unology Narras	Competency	Competence level	Assessor's signature	Learner's signature
Guideline for bladder instillation – Trainina Document		Describe anatomy of the lower urinary tract			
		Outline physiology of the lower urinary tract			
The aim of this document is to complement the EAUN Evidence-based Guidelines for Best Practice in Health Care in "Intravesical Institution with mitomycin C or bacillus Calmette-Guérin in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer?".	uidelines for or bacillus	Undertake urethral catheterisation Describe bladder cancer treatment pathway			
These pages can be downloaded to ensure that the practitioner has written evidence of assessment and competence in the various aspects of intravesical therapy.	evidence apy.	Describe indications for intravesical therapy			
The documentation should be kept in a safe place in case it should be required in the future.	quired in the	Ability to counsel patients regarding intravesical therapy (prior to instillation)			
Using the performance levels below, the practitioner should achieve at least Level 3 on 20 patients before undertaking the procedure independently.	ast Level 3	Ability to counsel patients regarding intravesical therapy (during instillation			
		Ability to counsel patients regarding intravesical therapy (post-instillation)			
		Determine appropriateness of referral for treatment			
		Demonstrate understanding of how the drugs work			
		Demonstrate understanding of the drug hazards			
Performance Levels Results		Demonstrate understanding of the			
Level 0 Carmot perform this activity in the clinical environment but knows the key principles involved.		Demonstrate understanding of the management of waste			
Level 1 Can perform this activity with constant supervision and some assistance		Describes personal protective equipment required			
Level 2 Can perform this activity with some supervision and assistance.		Explain side effects and their management			
Level 3 Can perform this activity satisfactorily without supervision or assistance at an acceptable speed.	tan	Describe the dose/schedule of administration			
Level 4 Can perform this activity satisfactority with more than acceptable speed and quality of work.	pu	preparation is met (e.g., urinalysis) Apply infection control procedures			
Level 5 Can perform this activity satisfactority with more than acceptable speed and quality of work and with initiative and adaptability to special problem situations.	nd tions.	Position patient correctly			
		Protect privacy and dignity			

A printable PDF of these forms will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines

14.7 Example of Training document

г

				Designation: Designation:	Designation:
Maintain communication with patient	Mix the drug correctly with all the required equipment Assess patient's needs following the procedure	Ensure patient is aware how to deal with any complications after discharge Assess patient's fitness for discharge Discard all used equipment annonreliev.	Record details of the procedure in patient record Recognise when help is needed Aware of keeping up to date with procedure	Assessor's signature: Assessor's name: Assessor's signature: Assessor's name:	Assessor's name: Assessor's name:



A printable PDF of this form will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines

Declaration of competency to administer intravesical therapy
I confirm that I have assessed(name) to be competent at Level at administering intravesical therapy independently.
\boldsymbol{I} am competent at undertaking this procedure independently.
${\bf I}$ expect the named practitioner to maintain their knowledge and skills in this procedure or to undertake a period of re-training and competency assessment if this should lapse.
Assessor's name:
Assessor's signature:
Designation: Date:
\boldsymbol{I} confirm that I have the necessary knowledge and skills to undertake this procedure independently.
I have been assessed as competent practitioner.
${\boldsymbol{I}}$ will maintain my knowledge and skills in this area and if they lapse I will seek a period of re-training and assessment.
Learner's name:
Learner's signature:
Designation: Date:

14.8 Examples of Documentation for MMC and BCG instillation

BCG weekly instillations

			BCG	Instill	ation			Contraction of Disalog
Name:				-				
Date of birth:								
				WEE	KLY INSTIL	LATION		
DATE								
TREATMENT NUMBER	1	2	3	4	-	6	z	
SIGNATURE	1	2	3	4	5	6	Ê	
							CYSTOSCOPY 4 WEEKS AFTER LAST INSTILLATION	
BLOOD TESTS							INS	
							AST	
NORMAL							TER L	
ABNORMAL – APPROVED							AF'	
BY PHYSICIAN							EKS	
URINE DIPSTICK							ME	
							Υ 4	
NORMAL							0 D	
							OSC	
ABNORMAL – APPROVED BY PHYSICIAN							CYST	
Remember to documen			:hart.					1
 See the local guideline a Remember to hand out 								

A printable PDF of this form will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines

						in 🤅	31111		///						al ta Noti	ratogy H4
Name:						_										
Date of birth:						_										
									INST	TILLAT	ION E	VERY	4 TH W	EEK		
DATE													1			
DATE																
TREATMENT NUMBER				Z				Z				Z				z
SIGNATURE	1	2	3	Ĕ	4	5	6	Ĕ	7	8	9	Ĕ	10	11	12	2
SIGNATORE				ILA				E				EL A				A.
				III				E				STI				Ē
BLOOD TESTS				2				Ξ				Z				INS
				AFTER LAST INSTILLATION				ST				AFTER LAST INSTILLATION				LAST INSTILLATION
				ž				Ľ,				ž				
NORMAL				Ë				Ē				Ē				AFTER I
								ΑF								AFI
ABNORMAL – APPROVED BY PHYSICIAN				4 WEEKS				S S				KS.				Ś
URINE DIPSTICK				E,				ų liej				E.	-			
ORINE DIFSTICK				4				5				5				≥
								L ∠				Ϋ́				7
				ō				8				8				b b
NORMAL				STOSCOPY				os				OS				SC
ABNORMAL – APPROVED				/ST				CYSTOSCOPY 4 WEEKS AFTER LAST INSTILLATION				CYSTOSCOPY 4 WEEKS				CYSTOSCOPY 4 WEEKS
BY PHYSICIAN				2				Ú				ú				5
 Remember to docu 	ment the	finding	in the p	oatient c	nart.											

BCG every 4th week instillation

A printable PDF of this form will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines



	ľ	witom	ycin ir	nstillat	ion			-	ef Unit
Name:				_					
Date of birth:				_					
						WEEK	LY INSTILL	ATION	
DATE									1
TREATMENT NUMBER	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Z
SIGNATURE									TILLATI
BLOOD TESTS									LAST INS
NORMAL									FTER
ABNORMAL – APPROVED BY PHYSICIAN									EKSA
URINE DIPSTICK									CYSTOSCOPY 4 WEEKS AFTER LAST INSTILLATION
NORMAL									OSCO
ABNORMAL - APPROVED									CVST

A printable PDF of this form will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines (Forms adapted from forms used in a Danish hospital)



14.9 Example of Side effect questionnaire

A printable PDF of this form will be available on the EAUN website, page: Nursing guidelines (Adapted from a form used in the Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Sweden)

14.10 Example of Safety guidelines for cleaning and handling

hazardous drugs

Instructions for cleaning spills of liquid hazardous waste

- For information about the hazards of the spilled drug, contact the area pharmacy or use the pharmacy-sponsored Micromedex web page.
- Whenever possible, spills of liquid hazardous drugs will be handled by employees in the area of the spill.
- Employees may call 911 to contact OESO for telephone advice or assistance cleaning up the spill. OESO will respond to large spills that are beyond the capacity of employees in the vicinity of the spill.

Equipment needed:

Chemotherapy/hazardous drug spill kit (available from Pharmacy Store Room at 22 22 2), including:

- Tyvek gown or coveralls
- Shoe covers
- Splash goggles
- 2 pairs chemotherapy tested disposable gloves
- Absorbent pads
- Scoop with detachable scraper for collecting glass fragments
- 2 5-gallon plastic waste disposal bags
- One Ziploc bag for returning contaminated splash goggles to pharmacy
- Hazardous drug waste labels
 - 1. Alert nearby persons about the spill.
 - 2. If the spilled drug got on anyone's skin, eyes, or clothing, see supplemental info information below (*).
 - 3. Prevent risk of additional skin contact with the spilled drug.
 - 4. Obtain chemotherapy/hazardous drugs spill kit.
 - 5. Put on safety goggles and double gloves from kit. If spill involves more than 5 mL or covers more than one square foot (or, for smaller spills, at the discretion of the person cleaning the spill), put on Tyvek gown and shoe covers (or coveralls) from kit. Tuck sleeves into the outer gloves.
 - 6. If there are broken glass fragments, use the detachable scraper to carefully "sweep" them or other sharps into the scoop. Place these sharps in a needle box.
 - 7. Use the absorbent pads to gently cover and wipe up the spilled material. If additional absorbent material is needed, use plastic lined blue pads (chux) or other available materials. Place used absorbent in one of the clear 5-gallon bags from the spill kit.
 - 8. Clean the area thoroughly with water. Disposable materials used in this step should go into the open bag from the spill kit.
 - 9. Clean the area three times using a detergent solution, then rinse. (Housekeeping

can be called in for this step only.)

- 10. Place any contaminated hospital linens in a hospital laundry bag.
- 11. Place other (personal) contaminated clothing in a sealed plastic bag. If it will be laundered, double bag for transport, then wash twice before combining with other laundry. If it will be discarded, place it in the open bag from the spill kit.
- 12. Remove the shoe covers (if used) and outer pair of gloves. Place these into the open bag from the spill kit.
- 13. Remove the goggles and place them into the open bag from the spill kit. (Alternately, goggles may be washed and reused.)
- 14. Close the open waste bag (by knotting or using twist tie or tape), then place it into the second clear 5-gallon bag from the spill kit.
- 15. Remove the Tyvek gown (or coveralls) and inner gloves. Place these into the second bag from the spill kit. Close the outer bag.
- 16. Wash hands thoroughly.
- 17. Read carefully for proper waste disposal (Improper disposal can mean large fines):

Nursing & Medical Research : If the drug is listed below, determine a location where the bag can be left for a few days without being moved or thrown in the trash. Contact the Occupational and Environmental Safety Office (OESO) at 11 11 11 to arrange for waste pickup. Be prepared to give the name of the drug, location of the waste bag, and the name and telephone number for a responsible person who will be available during business hours. Fill in the blanks on the "Hazardous Drug Waste" labels and put them on the bag, then put bag in location described to OESO.

These are the drugs that must be treated as described above:

- Chlorambucil (Leukeran)
- Cyclophosphamide (Cytoxin)
- Daunorubicin (Daunomycin, Cerubidine)
- Melphalan (Alkeran)
- Mitomycin (Mitomycin C, Mutamycin)
- Streptozocin (Zanosar, Streptozotocin)
- Uracil mustard (Uramustine, U-8344)
- Arsenic Trioxide
- Diethylstilbestrol

If the drug is not on the above list, put the knotted bag of spill waste directly into a biohazard container (WITHOUT labels).

- 18. Call the Pharmacy Store Room at 22 22 22 to obtain a replacement chemotherapy/ hazardous drug spill kit.
- 19. Nursing staff should bag and label any contaminated pumps and send to Pharmacy.
- 20. Follow reporting procedures in the supplemental info below(**).

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

For Employees Cleaning up Spills of Hazardous Drugs

*Obvious contamination of gloves, clothing, skin or eyes will be treated as follows:

- a. Remove contaminated gloves or clothing (if applicable).
- b. Wash the affected skin area with soap (not germicidal cleaner) and lukewarm water. For eye exposure, immediately flush the affected eye with water or isotonic eyewash (or normal saline) for at least 15 minutes.
- c. For direct skin or eye contact,
- Obtain medical attention as soon as possible. Employees should go to Employee Occupational Health and Wellness or the Emergency Dept.
- Fill out the appropriate incident report form and submit as follows:
- Employees who are exposed must fill out a Report of Work-Related Injury/Illness and send to Employee Health.
- If patient injury occurs, notify Pharmacy Quality Improvement (pager 111-1111) and Risk Management (pager 111-2222) immediately.
- If a visitor is exposed, notify Risk Management.

Inform the appropriate area manager.

**Reporting Requirements for ALL Incidents During Patient Treatment:

Any drug spill during patient treatment should be documented in the Safety Reporting System.

About these instructions and when they should be used:

These instructions are provided with hazardous drugs spill kits so that, whenever possible, spills of LIQUID hazardous drugs can be handled by employees in the area of the spill. Hazardous drugs are those marked "Chemotherapy" or "Hazardous drug" by the pharmacy.

Additional Information:

- For information about the hazards of the spilled drug, contact the area pharmacy or use the <u>Pharmacy-sponsored Micromedex web page</u>. Ask for or look for a <u>Material Safety</u> <u>Data Sheet</u> (MSDS) on the drug.
- It is not necessary to report hazardous drug spills to the Occupational and Environmental Safety Office (OESO) unless hazardous waste pickup is required. However, employees may call 911 to contact OESO for telephone advice or assistance cleaning up the spill.
 OESO will respond to large spills that are beyond the capacity of employees in the vicinity of the spill. If you call 911, tell the dispatcher there is a hazardous drug spill and give a number where you or someone else in your work area can be reached. Please make sure someone is available to answer the telephone and talk with the Spill Responder from OESO.

Hazardous Drug Spill Training is Available through OESO's Training Website

Adapted from a Safety guidelines document of the Occupational & Environmental Safety Office of Duke University, www.safety.duke.edu
14.11 PICO questions

According to the Centre for Evidence Based Medicine (CEBM), "one of the fundamental skills required for practising EBM is the asking of well-built clinical questions. To benefit patients and clinicians, such questions need to be both directly relevant to patients' problems and phrased in ways that direct your search to relevant and precise answers."

A well-built clinical foreground question should have 4 components. The PICO model is a helpful tool that assists you in organizing and focusing your foreground question into a searchable query. Dividing into the PICO elements helps identify search terms/concepts to use in your search of the literature.

- P = Patient, Problem, Population (How would you describe a group of patients similar to you? What are the most important characteristics of the patient?)
- I = Intervention, Prognostic Factor, Exposure (What main intervention are you considering? What do you want to do with this patient? What is the main alternative being considered?)
- C = Comparison (Can be None or placebo.) (What is the main alternative to compare with the intervention? Are you trying to decide between two drugs, a drug and no medication or placebo, or two diagnostic tests?)
- O= Outcome (What are you trying to accomplish, measure, improve or affect? Outcomes may be disease-oriented or patient-oriented.) [177]

The following questions were defined by the EAUN Working Group:

- PICO 1: Are there factors in nursing competence that predict untoward effects of bladder instillation therapy with mitomycin C or BCG (Bacillus Calmette-Guérin)?
- PICO 2: In bladder instillation treatment with mitomycin C or BCG, would the use of specific types or size of catheter or specific catheter material or lubricant have an influence on the safety of the patient?
- PICO 3: In bladder instillation treatment with mitomycin C or BCG, would the use of protective equipment compared to no protective equipment have an influence on the safety of nurses and patients?
- PICO 4: What is the effect of bladder instillation therapy in NMIBC (non-muscle invasive bladder cancer) patients with co-morbidities of the bladder (e.g., diabetes mellitus, neurogenic, atonic bladder or reduced bladder contractibility?)
- PICO 5: In patients with reduced ability to empty the bladder (e.g., people with diabetes or neurogenic, atonic bladder or low bladder contractibility) is there a difference in adverse effects after bladder instillation compared to people with no reduced ability to empty the bladder?
- PICO 6: Are there aspects related to the preparation of the bladder instillation medication (mitomycin C or BCG) that influence the safety of patients, cleaning personnel and health care worker?
- PICO 7: In patients with a reduced storage ability of the bladder would the intravesical administration of mitomycin C or BCG be less effective?
- PICO 8: Does patient positioning during dwell time of the bladder instillation therapy

with mitomycin C or BCG impact the outcome of the procedure or treatment

- PICO 9: What evidence is there that delay of treatment affects bladder cancer outcome or side effects (delay from TURB (TUR/TUR-BT) (Transurethral Resection of Bladder) to initiating bladder instillation treatment with mitomycin C or BCG) in NMIBC patients.
- PICO 10: Does the dwell time of the bladder instillation therapy with mitomycin C or BCG impact side effects or QoL or outcome of the bladder cancer treatment in NMIBC patients?
- PICO 11: In NMIBC patients, what is the effect of patient education and adherence on quality of life, bladder cancer outcome and side effects of bladder instillation therapy with mitomycin C or BCG?
- PICO 12: Do NMIBC patients treated with bladder instillation therapy with mitomycin C or BCG that receive patient education have a better adherence to the treatment?
- PICO 13: What are the adverse effects of not following instructions on the place of voiding after bladder instillation and other precautions taken on the safety of the patient and relatives?
- PICO 14: In patients treated with bladder instillation therapy (mitomycin C or BCG) for NMIBC will reducing the adverse effects of therapy influence adherence/compliance to/ with the treatment?
- PICO 15: In patients treated with bladder instillation therapy (mitomycin C or BCG) for NMIBC will reducing the adverse effects of therapy influence their quality of life?

15. About the authors

Susanne Vahr, RN PhD student (DK), Chair

Works as a Clinical Nurse Specialist, Urological Department, Rigshospitalet, University Hospital of Copenhagen, Denmark.

Board member of EAUN. Member of the Danish Association of Urology Nurses and board member of the Danish Educational Council.

Mrs. Vahr has worked in the field of urology since 1992. Her primary focus has been competence development to secure updated and qualified care for urological patients.

Special interests: nursing interventions in bladder cancer patients, and prevention of UTI in patients treated with urinary catheters

Bruce Turner RN, BN (Hons), MSc (UK)

Consultant Nurse Uro-oncology / Urology, Homerton University Hospital, London, UK and Nurse Practitioner, Bart's Health Hospitals, London, UK.

Professional Development Group Lead and Council Member, British Association of Urological Nurses. Graduated from the University of Wales, Swansea in 2001. Graduated from City University with MSc Advanced Nursing Practice and is an Independent Nurse Prescriber. Initially worked in critical care and general surgery. Established role of trainee uro-oncology nurse practitioner in London, 2004 and has developed and leads a comprehensive nurse led service in uro-oncology including haematuria, prostate cancer management, metastatic bone disease, intravesical therapy, prostate biopsy and transperineal template biopsy.

Nora Love, MS, RN, CURN, OCN® (USA)

Registered Nurse at a National Comprehensive Cancer Center (Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center) for 27 years. Present position is a Clinical Nurse Specialist practising in the department of Urology for the past 16 years. Certified in Urology by CBUNA (Certification Board for Urologic Nurses and Associates) for the past 6 years. OCN (Oncology Certified Nurse) certified.

Worked on and chaired the Evidence-based Committee for > 12 years and produced a significant portion of the Policy and Procedure Manual at the Center which is updated every 3 years. Significant guidelines she has written include:

- CAUTI (Catheter Associated Urinary Tract Infection) Prevention Guidelines
- Patient Education for the Care of a Continent Urinary Diversion
- Care of the Indwelling Foley Catheter
- Safe Handling of Intravesicle Cidofovir
- Intermittent Catheterization

As a Clinical Nurse Specialist she has experience giving intravesical therapy as well as teaching it to new nurses. The Center averages about 400 instillation per year.

Giulia Villa, RN, MNS (IT)

Registered Nurse, Critical Care Nurse Specialist, Master Degree in Nursing Sciences.

Clinical Nurse at the Urology Department of San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy from 2005 to 2008. Since 2008 Mrs. Villa has been a Clinical Tutor and Lecturer in Evidence-based Practice and Nursing Research. Her main activities are tutoring of clinical students in the Department of Surgery, Vice Director of the Bachelor School of Nursing Vita-Salute San Raffaele University from September 2012, member of different committees for the National Conference of Health Professional Schools.

She is involved in developing several research projects in urology related to bladder cancer, prostate cancer and UTI in collaboration with clinical nurses and clinicians. Mrs. Villa is a member of the Italian Association of Urology Nurses, and a member of the Board of the European Association of Urology Nurses.

Special interests: bladder and prostate cancer, urinary diversion, UTI, nutrition, fast track surgery, robotic surgery

Willem De Blok, Rn, Ma ANP, clinical nurse specialist urology-oncology (NL)

Works as a Clinical Nurse Specialist, Antoni van Leeuwenhoek, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Board member of EAUN. Member of the Dutch Association of Urology Nurses (VenVN Urologie)

He has worked in the field of urology since 2001. His focus is on all urological oncological treatments but with a special interest for bladder cancer, prostate cancer and robotic surgery.

Mr. De Blok was co-chair of the guideline group that developed the Dutch guidelines for intravesical instillation of BCG and MMC in NMIBC published in 2012 by the IKNL and the VenVN Urologie.

Bente Thoft Jensen, RN-MPH, PhD (DK, USA)

Research Nurse, Department of Urology, Aarhus University Hospital & Department of Clinical Institute, Centre of Research in Rehabilitation, Aarhus University

Mrs. Jensen has been working in urology for 20 years both in Copenhagen and at Aarhus University Hospital, Denmark. In 2015 she accepted a position at the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Centre in New York (US). She has an ongoing interest for developing clinical practice in urological nursing.

Apart from her research related to uro-oncology cancer and survivorship aspects, Mrs. Jensen has also been involved in innovative educational initiatives such as: the "European Bone Health Programme" in cooperation with the European Oncology Nursing Society (EONS) and the Skeletal Care Academy (SCA), the online Bone Health course (EAUN), the European Specialist Nurse Organisation (ESNO) and recently the "European School of Urology Nursing" (ESUN).

Jan Hrbáček, MD, PhD (CZ, UK)

Graduated from Charles University in Prague, 3rd Faculty of Medicine, Czech Republic in 2007. Worked as a urologist in Motol Teaching Hospital and as a researcher and lecturer for the 2nd Faculty of Medicine, Charles University in Prague. Currently practises in the UK.

Special interests include diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer and non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. He is a section co-editor for urological oncology in the Central European Journal of Urology.

16. References

- Babjuk M, Böhle A, Burger M, et al. EAU guidelines on non-muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder: update 2014 In: EAU Guidelines, edition presented at the 29th EAU Annual Congress, Stockholm 2014 [Internet]. Arnhem, The Netherlands: European Association of Urology; 2014. http://www.uroweb.org/gls/pdf/05 Non-muscle Invasive BC TaT1 LR.pdf.
- Martinez-Pineiro JA, Martinez-Pineiro L. BCG update: Intravesical therapy. Eur Urol 1997;31:31-41. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9076484.
- OCEBM Levels of Evidence Working Group. The Oxford Levels of Evidence 1. [Internet]. Oxford Cent Evidence-Based Med Oxford: OCEBM; 2011 [accessed on 2012 Jan 22]. http://www.cebm.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/CEBM-Levels-of-Evidence-2.1.pdf.
- Behrens J, Langer G. Evidence-based nursing Vertrauensbildende Entzauberung der Wissenschaft [Internet]. Bern, Göttingen, Toronto, Seattle: Verlag Hans Huber; 2004. p. 1–262. http://www.socialnet.de/rezensionen/1840.php.
- Tyagi P, Tyagi S, Kaufman J, et al. Local drug delivery to bladder using technology innovations. Urol Clin North Am 2006;33:519-30. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17011388.
- Shariat SF, Chade DC, Karakiewicz PI, et al. Update on intravesical agents for non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Immunotherapy 2010;2:381–92. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20635902.
- Abern M, Owusu R, Anderson M, et al. Perioperative intravesical chemotherapy in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2013;11:477–84. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23584348.
- Gandhi NM, Morales A, Lamm DL. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy for genitourinary cancer. BJU Int Blackwell Publishing Ltd (9600 Garsington Road, Oxford OX4 2XG, United Kingdom); 2013;112:288–97. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23517232.
- Shelley M, Court JB, Kynaston H, et al. Intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guérin versus mitomycin C for Ta and T1 bladder cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003;3. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=2009823913&site=ehost-live.
- Sylvester RJ, Van der Meijden APM, Lamm DL. Intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin reduces the risk of progression in patients with superficial bladder cancer: A meta-analysis of the published results of randomized clinical trials [Internet]. J Urol 2002. p. 1964–70.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12394686.

- CBG MEB. Mitomycin-C Kyowa [Internet]. spc IB-text [Dutch] 2014 [accessed on 2014 Dec 28]. p. 1–7. http://db.cbg-meb.nl/IB-teksten/h18987.pdf.
- 12. Herr HW. Intravesical bacille Calmette-Guerin eradicates bacteriuria in antibiotic-naive bladder cancer patients. Eur Urol 2013;63:832-5.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22921719.

 CBG MEB. BCG-medac, powder and solvent for suspension for intravesical use. [Internet]. spc IB-text [Dutch] 2014 [accessed on 2014 Dec 28].

http://db.cbg-meb.nl/IB-teksten/h26876.pdf.

- Yossepowitch O, Eggener SE, Bochner BH, et al. Safety and Efficacy of Intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin Instillations in Steroid Treated and Immunocompromised Patients. J Urol 2006;176:482–5. http://www.jurology.com/article/S0022-5347(06)00825-1/abstract.
- Yates D, Brausi M, Catto J, et al. Treatment options available for bacillus Calmette-Guérin failure in non-muscleinvasive bladder cancer. Eur Urol 2012;62:1088–96. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22959049.

 Anastasiadis A, De Reijke TM. Best practice in the treatment of nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. Ther Adv Urol 2012;4:13-32.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22295042.

 Lamm D, Blumenstein B, Crissman J, et al. Maintenance bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy for recurrent TA, T1 and carcinoma in situ transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder: a randomized Southwest Oncology Group Study. J Urol 2000;163:1124–9.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10737480.

- Gontero P, Bohle A, Malmstrom P-U, et al. The role of bacillus Calmette-Guérin in the treatment of non-muscleinvasive bladder cancer. Eur Urol 2010;57:410-29. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19969411.
- Amling CL. Diagnosis and management of superficial bladder cancer. Curr Probl Cancer 2001;25:219–78. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11514784.
- NIOSH. Proposed Additions and Deletions to the NIOSH Hazardous Drug List 2014. [Internet]. Centers Dis Control Prev 2014 [accessed on 2014 Dec 14]. http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docket/review/docket233/pdf/FRN_HD_LIST_2014.pdf.
- 21. Brixey MT. Chemotherapeutic agents: intravesical instillation. Urol Nurs 1988;9:4–6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3145560.
- OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration. OSHA Technical Manual (OTM) Controlling occupational exposure to hazardous drugs. [Internet]. United States Department of Labor; 1999 [accessed on 2014 Dec 14].
 p. Section VI: Chapter 2.

https://www.osha.gov/dts/osta/otm/otm_vi/otm_vi_2.html#_45.

- EU (Council of the European Union). Council Directive 90/394/EEC of 28 June 1990 on the protection of workers from the risks related to exposure to carcinogens at work (Sixth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC). [Internet]. Eur-Lex 1990 [accessed on 2014 Dec 14]. p. 1–7. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31990L0394.
- 24. Suspiro A, Prista J. Biomarkers of occupational exposure do anticancer agents: a minireview. Toxicol Lett 2011;207:42-52.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21911042.

 Rogers B, Emmett EA. Handling antineoplastic agents: urine mutagenicity in nurses. Image J Nurs Sch 1987;19: 108–13.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3311973.

- McDiarmid MA, Oliver MS, Roth TS, et al. Chromosome 5 and 7 abnormalities in oncology personnel handling anticancer drugs. J Occup Environ Med 2010;52:1028-34. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20881619.
- 27. Meijster T, Fransman W, Veldhof R, et al. Exposure to antineoplastic drugs outside the hospital environment. Ann Occup Hyg 2006;50:657–64.

http://annhyg.oxfordjournals.org/content/50/7/657.full.

- Yoshida J, Tei G, Mochizuki C, et al. Use of a closed system device to reduce occupational contamination and exposure to antineoplastic drugs in the hospital work environment. Ann Occup Hyg 2009;53:153–60. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19261696.
- Boiano JM, Hull RD. Development of a National Occupational Exposure Survey and Database associated with NIOSH hazard surveillance initiatives. Appl Occup Environ Hyg 2001;16:128–34. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11217699.
- Lawson CC, Rocheleau CM, Whelan EA, et al. Occupational exposures among nurses and risk of spontaneous abortion. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2012;206:327.e1–8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22304790.

- Fransman W. Antineoplastic drugs: Occupational exposure and health risks [Internet]. Utr Univ Repos Utrecht: Utrecht University; 2006 [accessed on 2015 Jan 30]. p. 1–166. http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/12854.
- Vos MC, de Haas PEW, Verbrugh HA, et al. Nosocomial Mycobacterium bovis-bacille Calmette-Guérin infections due to contamination of chemotherapeutics: case finding and route of transmission. J Infect Dis 2003;188:1332-5. http://jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/188/9/1332.full.
- Clark BA, Sessink PJM. Use of a closed system drug-transfer device eliminates surface contamination with antineoplastic agents. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2013;19:99–104. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23292973.
- Games J. Nursing implications in the management of superficial bladder cancer. Semin Urol Oncol 1996;14:36–40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8727809.
- 35. Mellinger E, Skinker L, Sears D, et al. Safe handling of chemotherapy in the perioperative setting. AORN J 2010;91:435-53.

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=2010626247&site=ehost-live.

 NIOSH. NIOSH Alert. Preventing Occupational Exposures to Antineoplastic and Other Hazardous Drugs in Health Care Settings. [Internet]. Dep Heal Hum Serv Centers Dis Control Prev Natl Inst Occup Saf Heal 2004 [accessed on 2014 Dec 28]. p. 1–58.

http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2004-165/pdfs/2004-165.pdf.

 Merck (Merck Sharp & Dohme). OncoTICE [Internet]. spc SPCONC14UK4035-UV52 2014 [accessed on 2014 Dec 24]. p. 1–6.

https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/medicine/1399.

Medac. EC safety data sheet - BCG-medac [Internet]. UMCO Umwelt Consult GmbH 2010 [accessed on 2014 Dec 14].
 p. 1-4.

http://www.medac.de/medac_international/data/SDS/BCG_E.pdf.

 Kastango ES. USP <797>: making the case for increasing environmental controls in pharmaceutical compounding. Infus Suppl 2005;1-11.

https://www.nhia.org/Members/documents/kastango_supplement.pdf.

- Landeck L, Gonzalez E, Koch OM. Handling chemotherapy drugs-Do medical gloves really protect? Int J Cancer 2014; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24978061.
- 41. Fransman W, Huizer D, Tuerk J, et al. Inhalation and dermal exposure to eight antineoplastic drugs in an industrial laundry facility. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2007;80:396–403. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17021843.
- Organon Teknika Corporation LLC. BCG Live (for intravesical use) TICE® BCG [Internet]. spc 2009 [accessed on 2014 Dec 14]. p. 1–11.

http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ApprovedProducts/UCM163039.pdf.

 Raviv G, Pinthus JH, Shefi S, et al. Effects of intravesical chemotherapy and immunotherapy on semen analysis. Urology 2005;65:765–7.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15833524.

- 44. Garg M, Sankhwar SN, Goel A, et al. Effect of intravesical immunotherapy on sperm parameters in young patients with non--muscle-invasive bladder carcinoma: prospective analysis. Clin Genitourin Cancer 2014;12:e83–6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24411194.
- 45. Boiano JM, Steege AL, Sweeney MH. Adherence to safe handling guidelines by health care workers who administer antineoplastic drugs. J Occup Environ Hyg 2014;11:728–40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24766408.

46. Vahr S, Cobussen-Boekhorst H, Eikenboom J, et al. Catheterisation, Urethral intermittent in adults - adults -Evidence-based Guidelines for Best Practice in Urological Health Care [Internet]. 1st ed. Arnhem, The Netherlands: EAUN Office; 2013. p. 96.

http://www.uroweb.org/fileadmin/EAUN/guidelines/2013_EAUN_Guideline_Milan_2013-Lr_DEF.pdf.

- Roper N, Logan WW, Tierney AJ. The Roper-Logan-Tierney Model of Nursing: Based on Activities of Living. [Internet]. 1st ed. Edinburgh: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2000. http://books.google.co.uk/books?id=RJ21IkAZQQ4C.
- 48. Cliff AM, Heatherwick B, Scoble J, et al. The effect of fasting or desmopressin before treatment on the concentration of mitomycin C during intravesical administration. BJU Int 2000;86:644–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11069370.
- 49. Rink M, Xylinas E, Babjuk M, et al. Smoking reduces the efficacy of intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Eur Urol 2012;62:1201–6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22980442.
- 50. Sfakianos JP, Shariat SF, Favaretto RL, et al. Impact of smoking on outcomes after intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for urothelial carcinoma not invading muscle of the bladder. BJU Int 2011;108:526-30. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21114611.
- Andius P, Damm O, Holmang S. Prognostic factors in patients with carcinoma in situ treated with intravesical bacille Calmette-Guerin. Scand J Urol Nephrol 2004;38:285–90. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15669587.
- Stone MM, Vannier AM, Storch SK, et al. Meningitis Due to latrogenic Bcg Infection in Two Immunocompromised Children – NEJM. N Engl J Med 1995;333:561–3. http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJM199508313330905.
- Shelley MD, Mason MD, Kynaston H. Intravesical therapy for superficial bladder cancer: A systematic review of randomised trials and meta-analyses. Cancer Treat Rev 2010;36:195–205. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20079574.
- 54. Badalament RA, Farah RN. Treatment of superficial bladder cancer with intravesical chemotherapy. Semin Surg Oncol 1997;13:335-41.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9259089.

- 55. Johnson MH, Nepple KG, Peck V, et al. Randomized controlled trial of oxybutynin extended release versus placebo for urinary symptoms during intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin treatment. J Urol 2013;189:1268–74. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23123375.
- Shah JB, Kamat AM. Strategies for Optimizing Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. Urol Clin North Am 2013;40:211-8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23540779.
- Switters DM, Soares SE, White RW V. Nursing care of the patient receiving intravesical chemotherapy. Urol Nurs 1992;12:136-9.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1465638 .

- 58. Spencer BA, McBride RB, Hershman DL, et al. Adjuvant intravesical bacillus calmette-guerin therapy and survival among elderly patients with non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. J Oncol Pract 2013;9:92–8. http://www.jop.ascopubs.org/content/9/2/92.short.
- Lim D, Izawa JI, Middlebrook P, et al. Bladder perforation after immediate postoperative intravesical instillation of mitomycin C. Can Urol Assoc J 2010;4:E1-3. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20174483.
- Akbulut Z, Canda AE, Atmaca AF, et al. BCG sepsis following inadvertent intravenous BCG administration for the treatment of bladder cancer can be effectively cured with anti-tuberculosis medications. N Z Med J 2010;123:72–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21317964.

- Kamel AI, El Baz AG, Abdel Salam WT, et al. Low dose BCG regimen in T1 transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder: long term results. J Egypt Natl Canc Inst 2009;21:151–5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21057566.
- http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21057566.
- 62. Geng V, Cobussen-Boekhorst H, Farrell J, et al. Catheterisation, Indwelling catheters in adults, Urethral and Suprapubic – Evidence-based Guidelines for Best Practice in Urological Health Care [Internet]. 1st ed. Arnhem, The Netherlands: EAUN Office; 2012. p. 112.

http://www.uroweb.org/fileadmin/EAUN/guidelines/EAUN_Paris_Guideline_2012_LR_online_file.pdf.

- Pugliese JM, Greene RN, Peterson AC. Intravesical therapy use in the high risk patient: practice patterns in an equal access healthcare institution before and after national guidelines. Can J Urol 2009;16:4927–31. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20003671.
- 64. Bischoff CJ, Clark PE. Bladder cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 2009;21:272-7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19370808.
- 65. Cindolo L, Palmieri EA, Autorino R, et al. Standard versus hydrophilic catheterization in the adjuvant treatment of patients with superficial bladder cancer. Urol Int 2004;73:19–22. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15263787.
- Hedlund H, Hjelmås K, Jonsson O, et al. Hydrophilic versus non-coated catheters for intermittent catheterization. Scand J Urol Nephrol 2001;35:49-53. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11291688.
- 67. De Ridder DJMK, Everaert K, Fernández LG, et al. Intermittent catheterisation with hydrophilic-coated catheters (SpeediCath) reduces the risk of clinical urinary tract infection in spinal cord injured patients: a prospective randomised parallel comparative trial. Eur Urol 2005;48:991–5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16137822.
- Loertzer H, Brake M, Horsch R, et al. Do bacteriostatic urethral lubricants affect the clinical efficacy of intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy? Urology 2001;57:900-5. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11337290.
- Burger M, Oosterlinck W, Konety B, et al. ICUD-EAU international consultation on bladder cancer 2012: Non-muscleinvasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. Eur Urol 2013;63:36–44. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22981672.
- Kaasinen E, Rintala E, Hellström P, et al. Factors explaining recurrence in patients undergoing chemoimmunotherapy regimens for frequently recurring superficial bladder carcinoma. Eur Urol 2002;42:167–74. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12160589.
- Serretta V. Optimizing intravesical chemotherapy in patient with non muscle invasive bladder carcinoma. Arch Ital di Urol e Androl 2008;80:143-8.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19235430.

- 72. De Bruijn EA, Sleeboom HP, van Helsdingen PJ, et al. Pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of intravesical mitomycin C upon different dwelling times. Int J Cancer 1992;51:359–64. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1592527.
- 73. Griffin JG, Holzbeierlein J. Side Effects of Perioperative Intravesical Treatment and Treatment Strategies for These Side Effects. Urol Clin North Am es E-mail: jgriffin3@kumc.edu; 2013;40:197-210. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23540778.
- 74. Au JL-S, Badalament RA, Wientjes MG, et al. Methods to improve efficacy of intravesical mitomycin C: Results of a randomized phase III trial [Internet]. J Natl Cancer Inst JL-S Au, Ohio State University, 496 W 12th Ave, Columbus, OH 43210, United States E-mail: au1@osu.edu: Oxford University Press; 2001. p. 597-604. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed5&NEWS=N&AN=2001167063.

- 75. Tenke P, Kovacs B, Bjerklund Johansen TE, et al. European and Asian guidelines on management and prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infections. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2008;31 Suppl 1:S68–78. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18006279.
- 76. Biering-Sørensen F, Bagi P, Høiby N. Urinary tract infections in patients with spinal cord lesions: treatment and prevention. Drugs 2001;61:1275–87.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11511022.

- Wyndaele JJ. Intermittent catheterization: which is the optimal technique? Spinal Cord 2002;40:432-7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12185603.
- Kapoor R, Vijjan V, Singh P. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin in the management of superficial bladder cancer. [Internet]. Indian J Urol 2008. p. 72–6. http://www.indianjurol.com/article.asp?issn=0970-1591;year=2008;volume=24;issue=1;spage=72;epage=76;aulast= Kapoor.
- 79. Katz G, Hackett RL, Wajsman Z. Bladder wall fibrosis following intravesical mitomycin treatment for superficial bladder cancer. Urology 1996;47:928–9.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8677595.

- Thrasher JB, Crawford ED. Complications of intravesical chemotherapy. Urol Clin North Am 1992;19:529–39. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1636237.
- Drago PC, Badalament RA, Lucas J, et al. Bladder wall calcification after intravesical mitomycin C treatment of superficial bladder cancer. J Urol 1989;142:1071–2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2507794.
- Inglis JA, Tolley DA, Grigor KM. Allergy to mitomycin C complicating topical administration for urothelial cancer. BJU Int 1987;59:547-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3120846.
- Wajsman Z, McGill W, Englander L. Severely contracted bladder following intravesical mitomycin C therapy. J Urol 1983;130:340-1.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6410085 .

- Fiore AA, Iorio B, Vennarecci G, et al. Papillary-like bladder calcifications following intravesical mitomycin C. A case report. Minerva Urol e Nefrol 1993;45:171-3. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8023227.
- Llopis M, Moreno J, Botella R, et al. Incrusted cystitis after intravesical mitomycin C treatment. Acta Urol Belg 1993;61:21–3.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8256682 . 86. De Groot AC. Conemans IMH. Systemic allergic contact dermatitis from intravesical instillation of the antitumor

- b) De Groot AC, Conemans JMH. Systemic allergic contact dermatitis from intravesical instillation of the antitumor antibiotic mitomycin C. Contact Dermatitis 1991;24:201–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1831098.
- Arregui MA, Aguirre A, Gil N, et al. Dermatitis due to mitomycin C bladder instillations: Study of 2 cases. Contact Dermatitis 1991;24:368-70.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1832619.

- Eijsten A, Knonagel H, Hotz E, et al. Reduced bladder capacity in patients receiving intravesical chemoprophylaxis with mitomycin C. BJU Int 1990;66:386–8.
- Baker WC, Russo MA, DeVere White RW. Severe bladder contracture in patient receiving intravesical mitomyin C for superficial bladder cancer. Urology 1987;30:357–8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3116739.
- Stoehr B, Mueller T, Granig T, et al. Increasing patient comfort by optimized postoperative administration of intravesical mitomycin C. BJU Int 2008;102:1556-9. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.07898.x/full.

 Mertens LS, Meinhardt W, Rier WB, et al. Extravasation of intravesical chemotherapy for non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. Urol Int 2012;89:332-6.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22965138.

- Wilson JRF, Turney BW, LeMonnier K, et al. A comparison of two BCG instillation regimens for non-muscle invasive bladder cancer: A retrospective cohort analysis of side effect profiles. Br J Med Surg Urol 2010;3:241–8. http://uro.sagepub.com/content/3/6/241.
- 93. Van der Meijden APM, Sylvester RJ, Oosterlinck W, et al. Maintenance Bacillus Calmette-Guerin for Ta T1 bladder tumors is not associated with increased toxicity: results from a European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Genito-Urinary Group Phase III Trial. Eur Urol 2003;44:429–34. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14499676.
- Malhotra P, Farber BF. Isoniazid resistance among Bacillus Calmette Guerin strains: implications on bladder cancer immunotherapy related infections. Can J Urol 2011;18:5671–5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21703038.
- 95. Witjes JA, Palou J, Soloway M, et al. Clinical Practice Recommendations for the Prevention and Management of Intravesical Therapy-Associated Adverse Events. Eur Urol Suppl 2008;7:667–74. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1569905608001103.
- Hidoussi A, Slama A, Jaidane M, et al. Eosinophilic Cystitis Induced by Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) Intravesical Instillation. Urology 2007;70:591.
- Agrawal MS, Agrawal M, Bansal S, et al. The Safety and Efficacy of Different Doses of Bacillus Calmette Guerin in Superficial Bladder Transitional Cell Carcinoma. Urology 2007;70:1075–8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18158020.
- Bohle A, Jocham D, Bock PR. Intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin versus mitomycin C for superficial bladder cancer: a formal meta-analysis of comparative studies on recurrence and toxicity. J Urol 2003;169:90–5. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022534705640438.
- 99. Suzuki S, Shinohara N, Harabayashi T, et al. Complications of bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy in superficial urothelial cancer: Clinical analysis and implications. Int J Clin Oncol 2002;7:289–93. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12402062.
- 100. Palou J, Rodriguez-Villamil L, Andreu-Crespo A, et al. Intravesical treatment of severe bacillus Calmette-Guerin cystitis. Int Urol Nephrol 2001;33:485–9.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12230277.

- 101. Vegt PDJ, Van Der Meijden APM, Sylvester R, et al. Does isoniazid reduce side effects of intravesical bacillus Calmette- Guerin therapy in superficial bladder cancer? Interim results of European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer protocol 30911. J Urol 1997;157:1246-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9120912.
- 102. Galvan L, Ayani I, Arrizabalaga MJ, et al. Intravesical BCG therapy of superficial bladder cancer: Study of adverse effects. J Clin Pharm Ther 1994;19:101–4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8071388.
- Rawls WH, Lamm D, Lowe BA, et al. Fatal sepsis following intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin administration for bladder cancer. J Urol 1990;144:1328–30. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2231917.

104. Orihuela E, Herr HW, Pinsky CM, et al. Toxicity of intravesical BCG and its management in patients with superficial bladder tumors. Cancer 1987;60:326-33. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3594369.

105. Fouka E, Angelis N, Stefanopoulou P, et al. BCG pneumonitis with a miliary radiological pattern complicating intravesical BCG immunotherapy. Pneumon 2010;23:388–91. http://www.pneumon.org/index.php?section=716&newsid640=361.

- 106. Lamm D, Van der Meijden APM, Morales A, et al. Incidence and treatment of complications of bacillus Calmette-Guerin intravesical therapy in superficial bladder cancer. J Urol 1992;147:596–600. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1538436.
- 107. Joaquim A, Custodio S, Pimentel FL, et al. Bacillary prostatitis after intravesical immunotherapy: A rare adverse effect. Case Rep Oncol 2012;5:80–3.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3337736/.

- 108. LaFontaine PD, Middleman BR, Graham Jr SD, et al. Incidence of granulomatous prostatitis and acid-fast bacilli after intravesical BCG therapy. Urology 1997;49:363–6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9123699.
- Linn R, Klimberg IW, Wajsman Z. Persistent acid-fast bacilli following intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin.
 J Urol 1989;141:1197–8.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2709508.

- Oates RD, Stilmant MM, Freedlund MC, et al. Granulomatous prostatitis following bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy of bladder cancer. J Urol 1988;140:751–4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3418796.
- 111. Stilmant M, Siroky MB, Johnson KB. Fine needle aspiration cytology of granulomatous prostatitis induced by BCG immunotherapy of bladder cancer. Acta Cytol 1985;29:961–6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3866459.
- Nelson HL, Wallis CJD, Pommerville PJ. Isolated tuberculous epididymitis: A rare complication after intravesical bacillus calmette-guerin therapy. Curr Urol 2011;5:106–8. http://www.karger.com/Article/Pdf/327461.
- Hoag N, Pommerville PJ, Kibsey PC, et al. Tuberculous epididymitis following intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy. Can J Urol 2009;16:4589–91. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19364433.
- 114. Bulbul MA, Hijaz A, Beaini M, et al. Tuberculous epididymo-orchitis following intravesical BCG for superficial bladder cancer. J Med Liban 2002;50:67–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12841318.
- Muttarak M, Lojanapiwat B, Chaiwun B, et al. Preoperative diagnosis of bilateral tuberculous epididymo-orchitis following intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for superficial bladder carcinoma. Australas Radiol 2002;46:183–5.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12060159 .

 Truelson T, Wishnow KI, Johnson DE. Epididymo-orchitis developing as a late manifestation of intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy and masquerading as a primary testicular malignancy: A report of 2 cases.
 J Urol 1992;148:1534–5.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1433567 .

- 117. Maundrell J, Fletcher S, Roberts P, et al. Mycotic aneurysm of the aorta as a complication of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin instillation. J R Coll Physicians Edinb 2011;41:114–6. http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/journal/issue/journal_41_2/lambie.pdf.
- 118. Witjes JA, Vriesema JLJ, Brinkman K, et al. Mycotic aneurysm of the popliteal artery as a complication of intravesical BCG therapy for superficial bladder cancer: Case report and literature review. Urol Int 2003;71:430–2. http://www.karger.com/Article/Abstract/74100.
- 119. Al Khalifa M, Elfving P, Månsson W, et al. The effect of isoniazid on BCG-induced toxicity in patients with superficial bladder cancer. Eur Urol 2000;37 Suppl 1:26. http://www.ncbi.plm.pib.cov/pubmed/1077560

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10575269.

- 120. Schreinemachers LMH, Van der Meijden APM, Wagenaar J, et al. Intravesical and intradermal Bacillus Calmette-Guerin application. A phase I study to the toxicity of a Dutch Bacillus Calmette-Guerin preparation in patients with superficial bladder cancer. Eur Urol 1988;14:15–21. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2963745.
- 121. Pardalidis NP, Papatsoris AG, Kosmaoglou EV, et al. Two cases of acute polyarthritis secondary to intravesical BCG adjuvant therapy for superficial bladder cancer. Clin Rheumatol Springer-Verlag London Ltd; 2002;21:536–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12447643.
- 122. Schwartzenberg JM, Smith DD, Lindsley HB. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin associated arthropathy mimicking undifferentiated spondyloarthropathy. J Rheumatol 1999;26:933-5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10229421.
- 123. Onur O, Celiker R. Polyarthritis as a complication of intravesical Bacillus Calmette- Guerin immunotherapy for bladder cancer. Clin Rheumatol 1999;18:74-6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10088958.
- 124. Guerra CE, Betts RF, O'Keefe RJ, et al. Mycobacterium bovis osteomyelitis involving a hip arthroplasty after intravesicular bacille Calmette-Guerin for bladder cancer. Clin Infect Dis 1998;27:639–40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9770167.
- 125. Fishman JR, Walton DT, Flynn NM, et al. Tuberculous spondylitis as a complication of intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy. J Urol cine, University of California, Sacramento, CA, United States; 1993;149:584–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8437271.
- 126. Desmet M, Moubax K, Haerens M. Multiple organ failure and granulomatous hepatitis following intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin instillation. Acta Clin Belg 2012;67:367–9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23189546.
- Eccles S, Mehta R. Disseminated BCG disease: A case report. Respir Med CME 2011;4:112-3. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S175500171100008X.
- 128. Kaklamanos M, Hardavella G, Trigidou R, et al. Multi-organ failure with atypical liver granulomas following intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin instillation. World J Hepatol 2011;3:79–82. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21487539.
- 129. Lyons D, Miller I, Jeffers A. Systemic hypersensitivity reaction to intravescial BCG. Scott Med J 1994;39:49–50. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8720760.
- 130. Skoutelis A, Melekos MD, Bassaris HJ. Miliary tuberculosis secondary to transurethral bacillus Calmette-Guerin administration for superficial transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. J Natl Cancer Inst 1990;82:1219–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2362292.
- 131. Sakamoto GD, Burden J, Fisher D, et al. Systemic bacillus Calmette-Guerin infection after transurethral administration for superficial bladder carcinoma. J Urol Urology Section, Department of Surgery, Columbus Hospital, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL United States; 1989;142:1073–5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2795734.
- 132. Topazio L, Miano R, Maurelli V, et al. Could hyaluronic acid (HA) reduce Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) local side effects? Results of a pilot study. BMC Urol 2014;14:64. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4137267&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- 133. Colombel M, Saint F, Chopin D, et al. The effect of ofloxacin on bacillus calmette-guerin induced toxicity in patients with superficial bladder cancer: results of a randomized, prospective, double-blind, placebo controlled, multicenter study. J Urol 2006;176:935-9.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16890660.

- 134. Oddens J, Brausi M, Sylvester R, et al. Final results of an EORTC-GU cancers group randomized study of maintenance bacillus calmette-guerin in intermediate- and high-risk Ta, T1 papillary carcinoma of the urinary bladder: One-third dose versus full dose and 1 year versus 3 years of maintenance [Internet]. Eur Urol 2013. p. 462–72. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23141049.
- 135. Brausi M, Oddens J, Sylvester R, et al. Side effects of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) in the treatment of intermediate- and high-risk Ta, T1 papillary carcinoma of the bladder: results of the EORTC genito-urinary cancers group randomised phase 3 study comparing one-third dose with full dose an. Eur Urol 2014;65:69–76. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23910233.
- Scott NW, Fayers PM, Aaronson NK, et al. EORTC QLQ-C30 Reference Values [Internet]. www.groupsEORTC.be Brussels: EORTC; 2008. p. 1–427. http://groups.eortc.be/qol/sites/default/files/img/newsletter/reference values manual2008.pdf.
- 137. Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993;85:365-76.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8433390.

- 138. Singer S, Ziegler C, Schwalenberg T, et al. Quality of life in patients with muscle invasive and non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. Support Care Cancer 2013;21:1383-93. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23238655.
- 139. Yoshimura K, Utsunomiya N, Ichioka K, et al. Impact of superficial bladder cancer and transurethral resection on general health-related quality of life: An SF-36 survey. Urology 2005;65:290-4. http://www.goldjournal.net/article/S0090-4295(04)01116-1/fulltext.
- 140. Matsuda T, Marche H, Grosclaude P, et al. Participation behavior of bladder cancer survivors in a medical follow-up survey on quality of life in France. Eur J Epidemiol 2004;19:313–21. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15180101.
- 141. Mack D, Frick J. Quality of life in patients undergoing bacille Calmette-Guérin therapy for superficial bladder cancer. Br J Urol 1996;78:369–71.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8881944.

142. Wei L, Li Q, Liang H, et al. The quality of life in patients during intravesical treatment and correlation with local symptoms. J Chemother 2014;26:165–8.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24090459.

143. Koga H, Ozono S, Tsushima T, et al. Maintenance intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guérin instillation for Ta, T1 cancer and carcinoma in situ of the bladder: randomized controlled trial by the BCG Tokyo Strain Study Group. Int J Urol 2010;17:759–66.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20604814.

- 144. Schmidt S, Francés A, Lorente Garin JA, et al. Quality of life in patients with non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: One-year results of a multicentre prospective cohort study. Urol Oncol 2015;33:19.e7–19.e15. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25443270.
- 145. Gontero P, Oderda M, Mehnert A, et al. The impact of intravesical gemcitabine and 1/3 dose bacillus Calmette-Guerin instillation therapy on the quality of life in patients with nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer: Results of a prospective, randomized, phase II trial [Internet]. J Urol 2013. p. 857–62. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23545101.
- 146. Chowdhury AR, Dey RK. Penile tuberculosis following intravesical Bacille Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy. Indian J Urol Medknow Publications and Media Pvt Ltd (B9, Kanara Business Centre, off Link Road, Ghatkopar (E), Mumbai 400 075, India); 2013;29:64–6.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23671370.

- 147. Lestre SIA, Gameiro CD, Joao A, et al. Granulomas of the penis: a rare complication of intravesical therapy with Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. An Bras Dermatol 2011;86:759–62. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21987145.
- 148. French CG, Hickey L, Bell DG. Caseating granulomas on the glans penis as a complication of bacille calmette-guerin intravesical therapy. Rev Urol 2001;3:36–8.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16985688.

- 149. Yu D-S, Chang S-Y, Yang T-H, et al. Granulomatous balanitis as an unusual complication after intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for bladder cancer. Asian J Surg 1996;19:246–8.
- 150. Herr HW. Intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin outcomes in patients with bladder cancer and asymptomatic bacteriuria. J Urol 2012;187:435-7.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22177154.

- 151. Strock V, Dotevall L, Sandberg T, et al. Late bacille Calmette-Guerin infection with a large focal urinary bladder ulceration as a complication of bladder cancer treatment. BJU Int 2011;107:1592–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21166754.
- 152. Spirnak JP, Lubke WL, Thompson IM, et al. Dystrophic bladder wall calcifications following intravesical BCG treatment for superficial transitional cell carcinoma of bladder. Urology 1993;42:89–92. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/009042959390350J.
- 153. Cheung JMK, Hou SSM, Yip SKH, et al. An unusual cause of retention of urine after intravesical bacillus calmetteguerin therapy for superficial bladder cancer. Hong Kong Med J 2011;17:492-4. http://www.hkmj.org/abstracts/v17n6/492_fulltext.html.
- 154. Senes AT, Badet L, Lyonnet D, et al. Granulomatous renal masses following intravesical bacillus Calmette Guerin therapy: the central unaffected calyx sign. Br J Radiol 2007;80:e230-3. http://bjr.birjournals.org/content/80/958/e230.long.
- 155. Garcia JE, Thiel DD, Broderick GA. BCG pyelonephritis following intravesical therapy for transitional cell carcinoma. Can J Urol 2007;14:3523-5.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17466161.

- 156. Damm O, Briheim G, Hagstrom T, et al. Ruptured mycotic aneurysm of the abdominal aorta: A serious complication of intravesical instillation bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy. J Urol 1998;159:984. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9474201.
- Lowther C, Miedler JD, Cockerell CJ. Id-like reaction to BCG therapy for bladder cancer. Cutis om; 2013;91:145–51. http://www.cutis.com/PDF/091030145.pdf.
- 158. Costiniuk CT, Sharapov AA, Rose GW, et al. Mycobacterium bovis abdominal aortic and femoral artery aneurysms following intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for bladder cancer. Cardiovasc Pathol 2010;19:e29–32. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19026573.
- 159. Martinez-Caceres P, Rubio-Briones J, Palou J, et al. Prevesical and inguinal abscess following intravesical BCG instillation. Scand J Urol Nephrol 1998;32:409–10. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9925006.
- Gonzalez JA, Marcol BR, Wolf MC. Complications of intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin: A case report. J Urol 1992;148:1892-3.
- Hristea A, Neacsu A, Ion DA, et al. BCG-related granulomatous hepatitis. Pneumologia 2007;56:32-4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17491206.
- 162. Thevenot T, Di Martino V, Lagrange A, et al. Granulomatous hepatitis and hemophagocytic syndrome after bacillus Calmette-Guerin bladder instillation. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2006;30:480-2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16633319.

- 163. Iantorno R, Nicolai M, Storto ML, et al. Miliary tuberculosis of the lung in a patient treated with bacillus Calmette-Guerin for superficial bladder cancer. J Urol L; 1998;159:1639-40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9554372.
- 164. Arzt MR, Forouhar F. Granulomatous hepatitis as a complication of intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for bladder carcinoma [Internet]. Ann Clin Lab Sci 1995. p. 409–13. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7486816.
- 165. Pancaldi P, Van Linthoudt D, Alborinom D, et al. Reiter's syndrome after intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin treatment for superficial bladder carcinoma. Br J Rheumatol 1993;32:1096–8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8252321.
- 166. Smith RL, Alexander RF, Aranda CP. Pulmonary granulomata: A complication of intravesical administration of bacillus Calmette-Guerin for superficial bladder carcinoma. Cancer 1993;71:1846–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8448747.
- 167. Molina J-M, Rabian C, D'Agay M-F, et al. Hypersensitivity systemic reaction following intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin: Successful treatment with steroids [Internet]. J Urol 1992. p. 695–7. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1538462.
- 168. Graziano DA, Jacobs D, Lozano RG, et al. A case of granulomatous hepatitis after intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin administration. J Urol 1991;146:1118-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1895437.
- 169. Gao CQ, Mithani R, Leya J, et al. Granulomatous hepatitis, choroiditis and aortoduodenal fistula complicating intravesical Bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy: Case report. BMC Infect Dis 2011;11. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2334/11/260.
- Ozbakkaloglu B, Tunger O, Surucuoglu S, et al. Granulomatous hepatitis following intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy. Int Urol Nephrol 1999;31:49–53. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10408303.
- 171. Josephson CB, Al-Azri S, Smyth DJ, et al. A case of Pott's disease with epidural abscess and probable cerebral tuberculoma following Bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for superficial bladder cancer. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 2010;21:e75–8.

http://www.pulsus.com/journals/pdf_frameset.jsp?jnlKy=3&atlKy=9393&isArt=t&jnlAdvert=Infdis&adverifHC Tp=_NP&sTitle=A case of Pott's disease with epidural abscess and probable cerebral tuberculoma following Bacillus Calmette-Guerin therapy for superficial .

- 172. Jose Manzanera Escribano M, Morales Ruiz E, Odriozola Grijalba M, et al. Acute renal failure due to interstitial nephritis after intravesical instillation of BCG. Clin Exp Nephrol 2007;11:238-40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17891353.
- 173. Geldmacher H, Taube C., Markert U, et al. Nearly fatal complications of cervical lymphadenitis following BCG immunotherapy for superficial bladder cancer. Respiration 2001;68:420–1. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11464093.
- 174. Falkensammer C, Gozzi C, Hager M, et al. Late occurrence of bilateral tuberculous-like epididymo-orchitis after intravesical bacille Calmette-Guérin therapy for superficial bladder carcinoma. Urology 2005;65:175. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15667898.
- 175. Tinazzi E, Ficarra V, Simeoni S, et al. Reactive arthritis following BCG immunotherapy for urinary bladder carcinoma: A systematic review. Rheumatol Int 2006:481-8. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed7&NEWS=N&AN=2006154803.
- Wright JL, Porter MP. Quality-of-life assessment in patients with bladder cancer. Nat Clin Pract Urol 2007;4:147–54. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17347659.
- 177. Dahlgren Memorial Library's Research Guides. Evidence-based Medicine Resource Guide. [Internet]. [accessed on 2014 Dec 28].

http://researchguides.dml.georgetown.edu/ebmclinicalquestions.

 Yuki M, Sekine S, Takase K, et al. Exposure of family members to antineoplastic drugs via excreta of treated cancer patients. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2013;19:208-17. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23060485.

If you have questions or comments regarding this publication, please contact: The EAUN Central Office P.O. Box 30016 6803 AA Arnhem -The Netherlands E-mail: eaun@uroweb.org You can also visit the EAUN website: **www.eaun.uroweb.org**

Acknowledgements

The European Association of Urology Nurses (EAUN) would like to thank all contributors to this guideline including those involved in proof reading and reviewing this publication. We would also like to thank the consultants that were involved to advise the Working Group on safety and occupational health issues: Mr. Paul Sessink, Exposure Control Sweden AB (safety) and

on behalf of the Dutch Society of Hospital Pharmacists, Mrs. Cunera Van Der Linden, the Netherlands (occupational health).

2015

ISBN 978-90-79754-76-2 Printed by GLD Grafimedia Arnhem - The Netherlands

© EAUN.

This content is owned by the EAUN. A person viewing it online may make one printout of the material and may use that printout only for his or her personal, non-commercial reference. This material may not otherwise be downloaded, copied, printed, stored, transmitted or reproduced in any medium, whether now known or later invented, except as authorised in writing by the EAUN. Contact eaun@uroweb.org for copyright questions and/or permission requests.

European Association of Urology Nurses

PO Box 30016 6803 AA Arnhem The Netherlands

T +31 (0)26 389 0680 F +31 (0)26 389 0674

eaun@uroweb.org www.eaun.uroweb.org



Association of Urology Nurses